INCLUSIVE PRACTICES: A STUDY OF HIGH SCHOOL GENERAL EDUCATION TEACHER AND PARAEDUCATOR COLLABORATIVE PARTNERSHIPS

A Dissertation by

Karen K. Kuhn

Master of Arts, Wichita State University, 1976

Bachelor of Arts in Education, Wichita State University, 1974

Submitted to the Department of Counseling, Educational Leadership,
Educational and School Psychology
and the faculty of the Graduate School of
Wichita State University
in partial fulfillment of
the requirements for the degree of
Doctor of Education

December 2018

© Copyright 2018 by Karen K. Kuhn

All Rights Reserved.

INCLUSIVE PRACTICES: A STUDY OF HIGH SCHOOL GENERAL EDUCATION TEACHER AND PARAEDUCATOR COLLABORATIVE PARTNERSHIPS

The following faculty members have examined the final copy of this dissertation for form and content, and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Education with a major in Educational Leadership.

Jean Patterson, Committee Chair	
Eric Freeman, Committee Member	
Kristin Sherwood, Committee Member	
Jody Fiorini, Committee Member	
Heidi Cornell, Committee Member	
	Accepted for the College of Education
	Shirley Lefever, Dean
	Accepted for the Graduate School
	Dennis Livesay, Dean

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my family. First to my parents, Edward and Barbara Kearney, who are unable to celebrate this accomplishment with me, instilled in me the importance of education and taught me to work hard for things I aspire to achieve. To my children, son Jeffrey, daughter Courtney, daughter in-law Allyson, and son in-law Jeremy all of whom cheered me on and provided words of encouragement throughout the journey. Finally, to the love of my life, my husband Edward, who for 46 years, has been my best friend, confidant, and a constant source of support and encouragement. In the words of Paul McCartney, "Maybe I'm amazed at the way you love me all the time...maybe I'm amazed at the way I need you." Without your unending inspiration and love, none of this could have been possible.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I was fortunate to have completed my studies and dissertation at Wichita State University (WSU). The Education Leadership program at WSU afforded me multiple opportunities to grow and expand my knowledge. A tremendous collaborative effort made it possible for me to complete this study and I am sincerely grateful to all who accompanied me on this journey.

I am appreciative of my dissertation chairperson Dr. Jean Patterson, who as a teacher and mentor provided endless time, reassuring guidance, and support. As a successful professor and researcher, you set an excellent example. Your enthusiasm for qualitative research was contagious and motivational. I am honored and humbled to have had the opportunity to be part of an exceptional program that you have nurtured and developed over the years.

I want to thank my dissertation committee members: Dr. Eric Freeman, Dr. Kristin Sherwood, Dr. Jody Fiorini, and Dr. Heidi Cornell. Your insightful and honest feedback as well as asking just the right questions inspired me to think differently and to look further. In addition, I would like to thank my cohort members Dr. Kristi Arends, Dr. Mike Bonner, Mrs. Connie Jacobs, Mrs. Felicity Nyaronge-Henning, and Dr. Jennifer Sinclair. I always looked forward to our time together. Knowing and working with all of you has made me a better person and professional. I will be forever grateful for your friendship and support.

In addition, I would like to thank my friend, Dr. Don Morgan and colleague Dr. Christy Skelton, whose support and words of encouragement kept me focused as I progressed on the path to complete this study. Finally, I wish to acknowledge the research participants without whom this study would not have been possible. I thank all of you for your time and willingness to provide insightful and candid input.

ABSTRACT

Inclusive high school general education classroom settings are comprised of students with varying needs. In order to support those needs, this study explored the collaborative partnerships among general education teachers and special education paraeducators in serving students with disabilities in inclusion general education classroom settings. As more students with disabilities receive their special education services in inclusive settings, this qualitative study documents the roles, routines, expectations, beliefs, and interactions of high school general education teacher and special education paraeducator teams in one suburban high school. Furthermore, this study investigated the perceptions, experiences, and beliefs of district and building leaders as well as special education teachers for the implementation of inclusive education and the collaborative partnerships between general education teachers and special education paraeducators. Data was collected through semi-structured individual and focus group interviews, classroom observations, and a review of documents.

Through the use of an Activity Theory framework, this study aimed to seek and understand what transformations may occur as general education teacher and special education paraeducator collaborative teams navigate and develop an understanding of inclusion practices and the implementation of such practices. The study emphasizes the need to for all members of school and classroom communities to recognize what rules and resources govern their practices, the social and cultural implications of their practice, and lastly, how they delineate what they do, why they do it, and how they do it.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Page
CHAPTER 1	1
Research Problem	
Theoretical Framework	
Purpose of the Study and Research Questions	11
CHAPTER 2	13
Literature Review	13
The Evolution of Paraeducators in the Schools	13
Historical Context	14
Legal Provisions for Special Education Paraeducators	
Special Education Paraeducator Roles and Responsibilities	
Training of Special Education Paraeducators	18
Teacher Responsibility for Special Education Paraeducators	
Lack of Preparation to Supervise Special Education Paraeducators	
Teacher Supervision and Training of Special Education Paraeducators	
Challenges for Teachers Who Supervise Special Education Paraeducators	
Teacher Competencies Needed to Supervise Special Education Paraeducators	
Supporting and Facilitating Inclusive Practices	36
CHAPTER 3	39
Research Design and Methodology	39
Research Site	39
Participants	41
Data Collection Methods	
Data Analysis and Interpretation	
Research Quality	
Credibility	
Dependability	
Transferability	
Ethical Considerations	
Positionality and Reflexivity	51
CHAPTER 4	55
Findings	55
Lakeview High School	
Implementation of Inclusion Practices at LHS	

TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

Chapter	Page
Defining and Implementing Inclusion Practices at LHS	57
Perceived Benefits of Inclusion Practices for Disabled Students at LHS	60
Role Expectations for the Implementation of Inclusion Practices	
Expectations for Administrators	66
Expectations for General Education Teachers	70
Expectations for Special Education Teachers	76
Expectations for SPED Paraeducators	79
Resources and Barriers for the Work of Teacher and SPED Paraeducator Teams	85
Resources: Documents and Tools	85
Lack of Access to Technology and Curriculum	87
Lack of Communication and Collaboration	88
Lack of Acceptance and Accountability	90
Training, Orientation, and Mentoring	93
Insufficient Time, Lack of Respect, and Paraeducator Turnover	97
CHAPTER 5	102
Conclusions and Implications	102
Conclusions	103
Motivation, Purpose, and Tension within Teacher-Paraeducator Partnerships	104
Division of Labor Between Teachers and Paraeducators: Hierarchical Relations	106
Resources and Tools: Availability and Needs	109
Rules Governing Inclusive Practices: Explicit and Implied	111
A Culture of Acceptance and Respect is Not Widespread	112
Implications for Practice	113
Training, Induction, and the Use of Resources	
Acceptance and Respect for All: A Precursor to the Success of an Activity System	115
Implications for Further Study	117
REFERENCES	119
APPENDICES	130
Appendix A: Interview Protocols	131
Appendix B: Interview Consent Form	

CHAPTER 1

Including students with disabilities in general education classroom settings is not a new concept. From its inception, the Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975 (1975) guaranteed students with disabilities a free appropriate public education (FAPE) and the right to be educated in the least restrictive environment (LRE). The LRE ensures students with disabilities have equal access to the general education curriculum with the intent they will achieve the educational outcomes set forth by their local school districts (Humphrey, Wigelsworth, Barlow, & Squires, 2013; Morgan & Ashbaker, 2001). As outlined in the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (1990), school districts were required to implement policies and practices allowing students with disabilities access to the general education classroom settings (Yell, Conroy, Katsiyannis, & Conroy, 2015). Additionally, the Every Student Succeeds Act (2015) stipulated local educational agencies, "provide assurances that the school will minimize the removal of children from the regular classroom during regular school hours for instruction" (p. 65). All of these regulations emphasized the importance of providing students with disabilities access to the general education curriculum as well as ensuring their inclusion in the general education classroom settings.

According to the U. S. Department of Education (2016), approximately 62% of the almost six million students with disabilities spend more than 80% of their school day being included in general classroom settings. General education settings ideally are environments where all students, "are integral members of classrooms, feel connection to their peers, have access to rigorous and meaningful general education curricula, and receive collaborative support to succeed" (Causton-Theoharis & Theoharis, 2008, p. 26).

Inclusive practices can vary widely from state to state, district to district, and school to

school. In some instances only students with mild disabilities are provided their special education services in general education classrooms while in other instances all students, no matter the severity of their disability, are included (Worrell, 2008). Variations in inclusive practices occur between school levels as well. In her study, Idol (2006) found educators at both the elementary and secondary levels supported the concept of including students with disabilities in the general education classrooms. However, the elementary teachers were more willing to implement the practice of inclusion than the secondary teachers were. Elementary teachers found the addition of resources, material and human, positively benefitted all students. Only 20% of the elementary teachers interviewed preferred students with disabilities be educated part-time or all of their day in special education classrooms. In contrast, over 50% of secondary teachers who participated in the study indicated they still preferred students with disabilities spend part-time or all of their day in the special education classrooms in order to receive more direct instruction and assistance (Idol, 2006).

Often the academic content complexity and pace of instruction at the secondary level contributes to teachers' attitudes and willingness to support the needs of students with disabilities in general education classrooms (Hunter-Johnson, Newton, & Cambridge-Johnson, 2014; Mastropieri & Scruggs, 2001). Given the demands and complexity, the degree to which high school general education teachers are willing and able to work with student with disabilities may be dependent on the supports provided to implement inclusive practices. Therefore, in response to the need to support students with disabilities, districts and schools have developed and implemented service delivery models to provide special education services in inclusion general education classroom settings.

One service delivery method high schools have used to provide for the needs of students

with a variety of disabilities in general education classrooms is to assign special education (SPED) paraeducators as the key mechanisms of support (Giangreco, 2010; Giangreco, Smith, & Pinckney, 2006). Assigning SPED paraeducators to support the needs of students with disabilities in general education settings requires commitment to the practice and an understanding of the roles, responsibilities, and expectations for both the general education teachers and the paraeducators. Ultimately, these factors will have an influence on whether implementation of such practices is successful.

Research Problem

Successful implementation of inclusive practices in a high school setting requires general education teachers and SPED paraeducators to seek responsive and collaborative relationships. Ideally, they would have a clear understanding of the rules governing their practices, the social and cultural implications of their collective work, the resources available and needed, and a clear description of their teaching roles and responsibilities. Research suggests for implementation of inclusive practices to be successful, teachers and paraeducators need adequate time for planning, preparation, and ongoing communication and support from administration (Pugach, 1995; Scruggs, Mastropieri, & McDuffie, 2007; Wallace, Anderson, & Bartholomay, 2002).

However, the teaming of general education teachers and SPED paraeducators can be difficult. High school teachers are often trained to work independently in their planning and instruction (Wood, 1998). The presence of SPED paraeducators in general education settings, while of potential benefit for all students, may raise concerns for teachers (Douglas, Chapin, & Nolan, 2016; Salzberg & Morgan, 1995). General education teachers may feel unprepared to support students with disabilities leading to a possible overreliance on the utilization of the SPED paraeducators assigned to their classrooms (Giangreco, Broer, & Suter, 2011; Giangreco

et al., 2006). The teachers may feel judged by the paraeducators and view their presence an intrusion, as they often do not select their paraeducator partner (Bauman, Silla, & Stufft, 2010). In addition, when paraeducators are significantly older than the teachers they work with teachers may feel reluctant or uncomfortable about directing the work of SPED paraeducators (Douglas et al., 2016; Salzberg & Morgan, 1995).

Supervising and guiding the work of the SPED paraeducators in high school classrooms is primarily the responsibility of special and general education teachers, yet historically, teacher education programs have not adequately prepared them for these responsibilities (Drecktrah, 2000; Irvin, Ingram, Huffman, Mason, & Willis, 2018; Lesar, Benner, Habel, & Coleman, 1997; Wallace, Shin, Bartholomay, & Stahl, 2001). In addition, teacher preparation programs and professional development after employment provide little, if any, guidance in the use and supervision of SPED paraeducators. The absence of appropriate and sufficient supervisory knowledge and practice, as well as confusion over differing perceptions of the special and general education teachers' supervisory roles and expectations regarding SPED paraeducators, raises concerns. The possible lack of sufficient knowledge to support the needs of SPED paraeducators may suggest the teachers responsible for the supervision of the paraeducators are also unprepared or lack sufficient understanding, knowledge, and skills to assume these tasks (Irvin et al., 2018; Morgan & Ashbaker, 2001). Yet, the changing expectations for SPED paraeducators in inclusive settings make the general education teachers' supervision of paraeducators of even greater importance (Dover, 2002; Wallace et al., 2001).

SPED paraeducators frequently learn how to carry out their job responsibilities through trial and error and on-the-job learning experiences (Carroll, 2001; Carter, O'Rourke, Sisco, & Pelsue, 2009). As SPED paraeducators receive little or no training to prepare them to assume

their duties in general education settings, several studies have indicated that persons in these roles may have inadequate preparation and training, insufficient planning time with teachers, and lack the guidance and supervision they need to appropriately and confidently perform their duties (Downing, Ryndak, & Clark, 2000; Giangreco, Edelman, Luiselli, & MacFarland, 1997). In addition, SPED paraeducators are often hired with no formal job description and are typically excluded from in-service or orientation training provided to the licensed staff (Ashbaker & Morgan, 2001; Gerber, Finn, Achilles, & Boyd-Zaharias, 2001).

Given these factors, it is apparent the teaming of high school general education teachers and SPED paraeducators in inclusion classroom settings can present challenges. General education teachers and SPED paraeducators may lack understanding of their purpose and expectations. The tension existing in the mutual understanding of the rules and resources may significantly interfere with the development and creation of successful general education teacher-SPED paraeducator teams working together in inclusion settings. Hence, conflict and confusion in the implementation of inclusive practices are likely to occur as general education teacher-SPED paraeducator teams attempt to delineate what they do, why they do it, and how they do it.

Theoretical Framework

For this study, Activity Theory (AT) served as the theoretical framework. It provided the lens for studying, describing, and interpreting the high school general and special education teachers, the SPED paraeducators, and the administrators' perceptions and experiences in the implementation of inclusive practices. It also provided the impetus for describing and interpreting what teachers and paraeducators do, why they do it, and how they support the needs of students with disabilities in general education settings. The application of AT to this study was useful due to the complex nature of supporting students with disabilities in general education

settings and the different ways such practices are enacted in different contexts. Confusion or misunderstanding may exist, thus leading to challenges for high school general education teacher-SPED paraeducator teams as they attempt to engage in a collaborative partnership in order to support the needs of students with disabilities.

Activity Theory (AT) has its origin in the work of Vygotsky from his studies of culturalhistorical psychology in the 1920s and later developed and expanded by Leont'ev and Engeström in the 1970s, 80s, and 90s (Roth & Lee, 2007). AT considers an entire work/activity system, including teams and organizations. According to Engeström (1999), activity theory includes individual workers, their colleagues, and co-workers, the tools and equipment they use in their work, the rules that govern how they work, and the purpose to which members of the workplace community direct their activity. AT takes into account the environment, history of the person or persons, culture, role of artifacts, motivations, and the complexity of real life activity (Morf & Weber, 2000). One of the strengths of AT is that it bridges the gap between the individual subject or subjects and social reality by studying both through a mediating activity. For this study, the mediating activity is the provision of special education services for students with disabilities in high school general education classrooms. Thus, it was be important to understand how the implementation of inclusive practices impacted the collaborative partnership among high school general education teacher and SPED paraeducator teams as well as how their work together influenced the provision of inclusive practices.

Activity Theory assumes organizations such as schools are driven by tensions and/or contradictions surrounding change, understanding, and development. These are essential as the tensions and/or contradictions within an activity system are the forces that impel development and change within the system (Verdon, McLeod, & Wong, 2015). Although, "contradictions can

be an obstacle to the enactment of an activity, they also provide opportunities for the development of creative innovations, and new ways of structuring and engaging in the activity" (Verdon et al., 2015, p. 57). As it applies to this study, change refers to the evolving and ongoing development of the collaborative partnership among general education teacher and SPED paraeducator teams and how their work together influences their ability to provide for the needs of students in general education classrooms. Important elements of collaborative partnerships are understanding, clarifying, and developing each participant's roles and expectations (Pugach, 1995; Wood, 1998). According to Morf and Weber (2000), "activity theory is a conceptual framework based on the idea that activity is primary, that doing precedes thinking, that goals, images, cognitive models, intentions, and abstract notions like 'definition' and 'determinant' grow out of people doing things" (p. 81). The outcome of the activity can be based on various motives and can be influenced by the fact that sometimes what people seem to be doing, what they say they are doing, and what they actually do can all be quite different.

The basic principles of AT are inherently dynamic and evolving. AT provides a model for analyzing activities into actions and outcomes (Worthen, 2011). As a theoretical lens, AT focuses on the accumulating factors that affect the subjective interpretations, the purpose, and the sense-making of individual or group actions and outcomes (Hashim & Jones, 2007). Every activity system is focused on achieving a certain outcome. This is the motivation for the activity to take place (Engeström, 2000), which for this study is the provision of special education services for high school students with disabilities in inclusion classroom settings to ensure educational benefit. According to a recent Supreme Court decision educational benefit means an individualized education program (IEP) typically should be, "reasonably calculated to enable a child to make progress appropriate in light of the child's circumstances and reasonably calculated

to enable the child to achieve passing marks and advance from grade to grade" (Endrew F. v. Douglas County School District, 2017, p. 12). Inclusive practices are rooted in the belief that students with disabilities benefit most when given the opportunity to learn alongside their non-disabled peers in age appropriate classrooms (Graziano & Navarrete, 2012). Therefore, successful implementation of inclusive practices may be linked to the participants' willingness to accept and support an inclusion model (de Boer, Pijl, & Minnaert, 2011). As the outcome of an activity can be based on various motives, such as regulatory compliance, equally important are the perceptions, experiences, beliefs, and attitudes of those involved in the activity and how these elements may contribute to the successful implementation of inclusive practices (de Boer et al., 2011). All of these factors can shape the participants' motivations for the activity to take place.

Activity Theory uses the whole work activity as the unit of analysis, where activity is broken down into six micro-analytical components, which are *object, subject, community, division of labor, tools, and rules* (Hashim & Jones, 2007; Roth, 2009). The first component, *object,* refers to the intended activity system. Objects are the goals or outcomes of the subjects and system, and are influenced by perceptions, knowledge, and practice (Wilson, 2014). For this study, it was important to understand how the district and building administrators, special and general education teachers, and SPED paraeducators described the purpose of inclusive practices and what they were trying to accomplish. Additionally, it was important to identify any potential benefits and/or challenges that influenced such practices.

The second component, *subject*, refers to the person or persons being studied. The subject is the person or people undertaking the action, motivated by the attainment of the object (Yamagata-Lynch, 2007). Inherent in the subject or subjects are their history and beliefs as well as their capacity and/or willingness to take action. In addition, this component of the activity

system includes the subject or subjects' awareness and interpretation of their ability to initiate, execute, and control their actions. All of these factors impact the subjects' view of the object and influences their engagement in the activity (Roth, 2009). Understanding the participants' perceptions, beliefs, and experiences about the implementation of inclusive practices was important to this study. How they described and interpreted these elements was the focus of the analysis.

The third component, *community*, refers to the social context in which each of the participants or subjects belong while engaging in an activity (Yamagata-Lynch, 2007). The social context is made up of members of a learning community focused on a common object or outcome. It is the community of people in the activity system who share an interest in and involvement with the same object or outcome (Postholm, 2015). For this study, the community included district and school administrators, general and special education teachers, and SPED paraeducators. As each school and classroom community has its own history and each member of the community brings his or her own personal background experiences and beliefs, it was important to apprehend how these factors influenced their practices within the community.

The next component is *division of labor*. The division of labor refers to the assignment of roles among those within the activity system. The division of labor may be both the horizontal division of tasks, or the vertical division of power based on social strata, level of qualification, and knowledge of the object or organizational hierarchy (Foot, 2001). It provides for the distribution of actions and operations among a community of workers and assists in determining who is responsible for doing what. In the practice of supporting students with disabilities in general education classrooms, it was important to interpret the working and professional responsibilities and relationships among all of the members of the community. This

assisted in understanding how decisions were made and what factors were considered when determining the roles, responsibilities, and expectations each participant assumed.

The fifth component is *tools*. Tools are the mediating devices or artifacts by which the action is executed. Tools are the cognitive or material resources used by the subject or subjects to mediate an activity and work toward the object or outcome (Engeström, 2001). Tools influence the participant-structure interactions and they change with accumulating experience. Tools are influenced by culture, and their use is a way for the accumulation and transmission of social knowledge (Hashim & Jones, 2007).

Tools are also influenced by the nature of external behavior and the mental capacities of the subject or subjects. They can take many forms including physical, such as material resources, or non-physical, such as knowledge. As a tool, "interactions provide humans with the capacity to develop new meanings of their world, and direct their thoughts and actions" (Pohio, 2016, p. 154). As it applied to this study, tools included the available material resources as well as the participants' knowledge and ability to communicate, plan, coordinate, and organize their collaborative partnership activities in supporting students with disabilities in general education classrooms. As a component of this framework, it was important to understand the tools and/or resources available and how they influenced the work of the general education teacher and SPED paraeducator teams. A few examples of the tools used in this research were: job descriptions, procedure/resource guides, a paraeducator-teacher checklist, training opportunities, and observation data.

The final component is *rules*. Rules are the conventions and guidelines regulating the activities in the system (Hashim & Jones, 2007). Rules may include policies, social conventions, or organizational procedures by which an activity is governed. They can be both formal and

Lynch, 2007, p. 456). Hashim and Jones (2007) suggested rules are the set of conditions that help to determine how and why individuals may act, and are a result of social conditioning. The rules, as they apply to this study, may include any potential "tacit" rules as well as any established processes and procedures, policies, guidelines, regulations, and laws governing inclusion practices. It was important to ascertain what rules existed and to what extent the rules impacted inclusive practices for general education teacher and SPED paraeducator teams.

Purpose of the Study and Research Questions

As schools continue to support the needs of students with disabilities in high school general education classrooms, the possibility of contradictions and confusion are likely to exist as general education teacher-SPED paraeducator teams attempt to define their roles, responsibilities, expectations, and needs. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to investigate how high school general and special education teachers, SPED paraeducators, and administrators describe the implementation, purpose, and outcomes of inclusive practices. Furthermore, the study investigated the teacher-paraeducator partnerships, the benefits and challenges of their work together, how their role delineation and expectations are determined, and what resources are available and/or needed to support inclusive practices in high school general education classroom settings. Based on the stated purpose of the study and to assist in understanding how general educators, special educators, and paraeducators in one high school work together, the following research questions guided the investigation:

- 1. What are the objectives of high school general education teachers and SPED paraeducators work together in general education classroom settings?
- 2. What are the outcomes of general education teachers and SPED paraeducators work

- in general education classroom settings?
- 3. How do general education teachers and SPED paraeducators in one high school support the needs of students with disabilities in general education classroom settings?

CHAPTER 2

Literature Review

The literature review includes both empirical research and publications emphasizing the normative aspects of the issues surrounding the use and supervision of SPED paraeducators. This review also includes studies on the perceptions and experiences of special and general education teachers regarding their preparation and practices to appropriately guide and direct the work of SPED paraeducators. While much of the literature focuses on the normative, that is, what teachers and paraeducators should do to improve their practices, it also points to the need for establishing effective practices through systematic scholarly inquiry. First, a historical overview provides insight on the use of SPED paraeducators and their roles and responsibilities in the schools. Second, an exploration of the issues will address the topics surrounding the preparation and training of special and general education teachers in the supervision of SPED paraeducators. Third, the literature review delineates what it means to supervise, and what knowledge and skills teachers need to perform their duties as supervisors of SPED paraeducators. Finally, the literature review focuses on the administrative supports needed to facilitate the work of teacher-paraeducator teams in inclusive classroom settings.

The Evolution of Paraeducators in the Schools

Paraeducators support students in schools all across the United States. They were first introduced into the nation's schools to enable teachers to spend more time planning and implementing instructional activities (Pickett, 2002). Pickett (1999), Director of the National Resource Center for Paraprofessionals defined a paraeducator as, "a school employee who works under the supervision of a certified or licensed staff member to support and assist in providing instruction and other services to children, youth, and their families" (p. 5). In most cases,

paraeducators are unlicensed personnel working under the direct supervision of a licensed teacher or teachers (French, 2003). Paraeducators are often hired with little or no experience and receive minimal training and preparation prior to starting their work with students (Giangreco & Broer, 2007; Radford, Bosanquet, Webster, & Blatchford, 2015).

The number of paraeducators working in the schools has increased significantly over the years. According to the National Center for Educational Statistics (NCES), in 1969 there were 57,418 paraeducators in the United States. By the fall of 2008, NCES reported there were approximately 734,000 paraeducators and in 2014, it was estimated there were 830,000 paraeducators working in the schools (Finkel, 2014). Due to the significant increase, paraeducators are considered the fastest growing segment of all school employees (French, 2003).

Historical Context

The first formal use of teacher aides in education began in the 1950s (Brotherson & Johnson, 1971). Due to shortages of teachers following World War II, school boards needed to find alternate resources; thus, the position of teacher aide was created (Pickett, 1997). The Ford Foundation in Bay City, Michigan tried using college graduates without teaching licenses to assume administrative responsibilities in order to give teachers more time for direct instruction of students. During the same period, Cruickshank (1957) pursued a similar program at Syracuse University. Results from both projects indicated teacher aides proved helpful in allowing the classroom teachers to devote more time to instruction of students (Pickett, 1997).

Beginning in the 1960s, legislation helped to expand the role of teacher aides in the schools. The Elementary Secondary Education Act (ESEA), Public Law 89-10 (PL 89-10), of 1965 guaranteed equal access to education for all children. A result of President Johnson's War on Poverty, this legislation took an important step to ensure, through education, every child's

ability to lead a productive life. Through a special source of funding, Title I, the law allocated federal resources to meet the needs of educationally disadvantaged children through compensatory programs for the poor.

Title I provided financial assistance to local education agencies and schools with high numbers or high percentages of children from low-income families to help ensure that all children meet rigorous academic standards. The financial assistance designated \$75 million to employ aides, specifically in low-income areas. The ESEA did not include guidance in the hiring practices, education, or training requirements for teacher aides. At the time, the qualifications for teacher aides mainly included being a parent or individual who lived in the community (Chopra et al., 2004).

Legal Provisions for Special Education Paraeducators

The hiring and use of SPED paraeducators evolved through the implementation of Federal laws, which regulate how students with disabilities will receive their needed services and supports. In 1975, the passage of the Education of All Handicapped Children Act or Public Law 94-142 (PL 94-142) required all public schools accepting federal funds to provide equal access to education for children with physical and mental disabilities. PL 94-142 contained provisions that entitled students with disabilities to a free appropriate public education (FAPE) designed to meet their unique needs, protected the rights of children with disabilities and their parents, supported states and localities in the provision of the education of children with disabilities, and assessed and assured the effectiveness of efforts to educate children with disabilities. This legislation also required that students with disabilities be placed in the least restrictive environment (LRE). The provision of LRE means the educational placement in which, to the maximum extent appropriate, and based on the individual needs of the students, students with disabilities are educated with

non-disabled peers (Kansas State Department of Education, 2014). For students with disabilities, LRE meant being educated as close to home as possible, often the student's neighborhood school, as well as to the maximum extent possible in the general education classroom. Along with the ESEA of 1965, PL 94-142 propelled the use of SPED paraeducators in the schools. These programs allowed schools to expand their use of SPED paraeducators to support the needs of students with disabilities. Even with the increased use of SPED paraeducators in the schools, there were no provisions for their training and supervision.

It was not until the 1997 reauthorization of PL 94-142, renamed the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act Amendments (IDEA), that guidance was provided for the training of all personnel working with students with disabilities. The amendments specified, "high-quality, intensive professional development for all personnel who work with such children" (p. 5). In 2001, the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) required SPED paraeducators work "under the direct supervision of a highly qualified teacher if they are providing instruction to students" (p. 6). The non-regulatory guidance for Title I of NCLB further detailed direct supervision occurred when the teachers prepared lessons and instructional activities carried out by SPED paraeducators. In addition, the act specified that teachers were responsible for evaluating the progress of students working with SPED paraeducators. The 2004 reauthorization of IDEA, now referred to as the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (IDEIA), clarified that SPED paraeducators who were appropriately trained and supervised in accordance with state law, regulations, or written policy, were recognized as personnel who may assist in the provision of special education and related services to students with disabilities. However, the act did not stipulate what constitutes direct supervision nor what skills supervision entails. The Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) (2015), stipulated local education agencies that receive targeted

assistance funds provide professional development to teachers, principals, and paraeducators on how to effectively work with and support at-risk students. Professional development for SPED paraeducators to effectively work with at-risk students should not only include the development of their skills to support the needs of the students, it should also provide guidance regarding their role expectations.

Special Education Paraeducator Roles and Responsibilities

Special education paraeducator job titles vary and may be influenced by their assigned roles and responsibilities. There is little consensus or agreement on what roles and responsibilities SPED paraeducators should assume. Their roles and responsibilities are often dynamic and evolving and are dependent on the context and the needs of the students they serve.

Several research studies have provided insight into the specific tasks SPED paraeducators often assume within the school. Giangreco and Broer (2005) surveyed 153 SPED paraeducators about the extent to which they engaged in several common tasks. The results of their study indicated almost half of the paraeducators' time was spent delivering instruction, followed by providing behavior support, engaging in self-directed activities, and supervising students.

French (2001) surveyed 321 special educators about the contribution SPED paraeducators make to 30 job related tasks. As reported by the teachers, the results of the study indicated that SPED paraeducators generally assumed primary responsibility for personal care tasks, shared responsibilities for activity preparation, and had limited responsibility for planning instruction and parent communication. Through their interviews, Marks, Schrader, and Levine (1999) found SPED paraeducators working in inclusion general education classroom settings believed their job responsibilities included keeping students with disabilities from "bothering" general education teachers, creating all modifications and adaptations for the students, and maintaining

responsibility for all aspects of the students' education.

In another study, SPED paraeducators working in secondary schools reported they were expected to perform a variety of complex and challenging tasks (Howard & Ford, 2007). The researchers found SPED paraeducators often had considerable autonomy and responsibility in providing academic, social, and behavioral support to the students they served. In addition, the SPED paraeducators were expected to provide adaptions and accommodations on a daily basis with little or no direction from teachers (Howard & Ford, 2007). Without guidance and support from teachers, instructional activities provided by the SPED paraeducators may potentially result in poor decision making on their part. Subsequently, this may lead to ineffective and inappropriate services and supports for students with disabilities.

In order to provide access to the general curriculum, students with disabilities require special education services and supports within the general education classrooms. In many instances, SPED paraeducators are the ones responsible for providing the needed services and supports (Giangreco & Broer, 2005; Riggs & Mueller, 2001). SPED paraeducators are expected to complete multiple tasks, yet they often receive little or no training before starting their positions (Capizzi & Da Fonte, 2012). Most SPED paraeducators are unprepared for the responsibility of working with students with disabilities. Their lack of training may lead them to question their ability to appropriately perform their roles and responsibilities (Downing et al., 2000). Limited supervision and feedback from the general or special education teachers, once they begin working in the schools, can lead SPED paraeducators to feel isolated and uncertain about their expectations (Marks et al., 1999).

Training of Special Education Paraeducators

Paraeducator attrition has been noted in several studies over the years (Ghere & York-

Barr, 2007; Tillery, Werts, Roark, & Harris, 2003). These studies found some of the primary reasons paraeducators leave the workforce are due to challenging relationships with teachers, low pay, and lack of training. High rates of turnover among the SPED paraeducator workforce and the fact they are often hired at the last minute or when the need for additional support for students arises throughout the school year, means there is often insufficient time to build relationships and little time for training before placing the paraeducators into the classrooms (Ashbaker & Morgan, 2001; Fisher & Pleasants, 2012; French & Pickett, 1997; Ghere & York-Barr, 2007). As employment of SPED paraeducators has increased, concerns related to their training, assignment, and supervision have arisen (French, 1998; Riggs & Mueller, 2001). When paraeducators were first introduced into classrooms, their primary role was to support the teacher with administrative duties, but over time their responsibilities and training needs have evolved to focus on teaching and learning (Ashbaker & Morgan, 2012; Blalock, 1991). Downing et al. (2000) interviewed 16 paraeducators and found the lack of training was a significant concern. All of the participants affirmed the need for training but reported minimal opportunities for it. In their study, Wallace et al. (2001) suggested teachers need to become better advocates for the training needs of the SPED paraeducators who work with their students.

SPED paraeducators have reported their training is little more than observing teachers and other paraeducators as they work with students, supplemented with a brief explanation before undertaking tasks (Carroll, 2001). Additionally, the quality of training and supervision provided varied significantly among teacher-paraeducator teams (Riggs & Mueller, 2001). In a study conducted by Breton (2010), 258 SPED paraeducators were surveyed regarding the adequacy of their training and training needs. The study findings showed that 46.3% of the respondents reported the adequacy of their initial training to instruct students with disabilities was

fair to very poor. When asked about training needs, 29.1% of the paraeducators indicated they were either uncertain or strongly disagreed they had received sufficient training to work with their current students. When asked what preparation would have been helpful prior to starting their first assignment, a study conducted by Liston, Nevin, and Malian (2009) revealed SPED paraeducators desired training specific to their job responsibilities. In their study, Giangreco and Doyle (2002) concluded schools and teachers need to do a better job at determining role expectations and role matching with the SPED paraeducators' skills, abilities, preparation, and supervision. They suggested, "when special education paraeducators remain inadequately supported in terms of training, planning, and supervision, the system is flawed" (p. 7). The inherent flaws may be due in part to the confusion that exists for teacher-paraeducator teams responsible for the implementation of services and supports for students with disabilities in general education settings.

In 2015, the Council for Exceptional Children (CEC) established paraeducator standards that aligned with the initial and advanced preparation standards for special education professionals (Council for Exceptional Children, 2015). The standards were developed to specifically target and ensure that paraeducators master the knowledge and skills necessary to perform their duties through ongoing, effective, pre-service and continuing professional development with licensed staff. The standards outline seven specialty preparation sets for SPED paraeducators, which include learner development and individual learning differences, the learning environment, curricular content knowledge, assessment, instructional planning and strategies, professional learning and ethical practice, and collaboration. Each of the specialty preparation sets provides guidance as to what knowledge and skills SPED paraeducators need to become more effective in their work with students with disabilities. The standards include the

development of effective communication and relationship building with other staff members.

In a study utilizing the CEC standards for assessing the knowledge base of paraeducators, Carter et al. (2009), found those with more years of experience and opportunities for training reported higher levels of knowledge as compared to those with fewer years of experience and training. In addition, the study emphasized the importance and need for meaningful training and supervision of paraeducators. To ensure the development of the SPED paraeducators' knowledge and skills, it is important for districts and schools to determine what information and strategies paraeducators need in order to effectively maximize educational outcomes for students with disabilities.

The success of students with disabilities in general education classroom settings may depend on the supports provided by the SPED paraeducators. Thus, student success may be contingent on how paraeducators develop the knowledge and skills neccessay to perform their duties, how they are trained, how their roles are determined and communicated, and how they are supported and supervised. Therefore, given the varied tasks SPED paraeducators are required to perform, it is preferable that the teachers responsible for their supervision and management have the knowledge, skills, and abilities to provide the appropriate supervision, guidance, and support.

Teacher Responsibility for Special Education Paraeducators

Teachers, given the responsibilities as supervisor and manager are in the best position to influence the skills, abilities, and practices of the SPED paraeducators assigned to their classrooms and ultimately meet the educational needs of all students (French, 2001). Teachers hold the position of leadership in the classroom, thus it is incumbent upon them to take responsibility for shaping the classroom environment to allow the SPED paraeducators to effectively carry out their job duties. Providing effective supervision and management of SPED

paraeducators is a complex activity that often requires special and general education teachers to serve as instructor, role model, manager, and counselor (Howard & Ford, 2007). However, teachers may be hesitant to provide supervision and guidance for SPED paraeducators because they themselves lack the requisite skills and knowledge necessary to appropriately carry out such responsibilities (Drecktrah, 2000; French, 2001; Pickett, 1999).

Lack of Preparation to Supervise Special Education Paraeducators

Although it is preferable for teachers to provide acknowledgement and feedback to the SPED paraeducators working in their classrooms, often there is confusion about who is responsible for supervising and managing their work. In their study, Bauman et al. (2010) found teachers' lack of knowledge about the role of paraeducators and their lack of experience collaborating with paraeducators influenced their ability to facilitate a successful teacherparaeducator partnership. Neither preservice training nor professional development occurring after employment for both special and general education teachers in the supervision of SPED paraeducators have adequately prepared them for their responsibilities of supervisor or manager (Bauman et al., 2010; Chopra, Sandoval-Lucero, & French, 2011; Wallace et al., 2001). Capizzi and Da Fonte (2012) stressed the teachers responsible for supervising SPED paraeducators are often unprepared or untrained to work with or provide SPED paraeducators the needed supervision, supports, and guidance once the paraeducators begin their work in the school setting. Special and general education teachers often lacked understanding of their duties as they related to the leadership, supervision, management, and evaluation of SPED paraeducators (Ashbaker & Morgan, 2012; Drecktrah, 2000; French, 2001; Wallace et al., 2001). Even though some of the duties performed by the teachers and SPED paraeducators overlap, it is still the responsibility of the classroom teachers to assess student needs and progress, plan lessons, and modify and adapt

curriculum to meet the needs of the students (Pickett, 1999).

A number of studies in recent years have found teachers received little to no pre-service or in-service training about working with paraeducators assigned to their classrooms. For example, a study conducted by Rueda and Munzo (2002) reported many special and general education teachers received no information or training from the school related to the activities or tasks SPED paraeducators could or should be expected to do. In a study conducted with first and second year general and special education teachers, 80% of the teachers reported they received less than one clock hour in their preservice programs on learning how to work with paraeducators (Bauman et al., 2010). In her study, Drecktrah (2000) found some teacher licensure programs spend only one to two clock hours addressing the topic of working with paraeducators. She surveyed special education teachers about their level of supervision of paraeducators, the skills required for their supervision, as well as how their teacher licensure programs and school districts prepared them for these responsibilities. Results from the survey indicated special education teachers were expected to teach and train the paraeducators in their schools about behavior management, tutoring, communication, types of disabilities, observing and documenting behavior, computer skills, and data collection. Of the 212 teachers surveyed only 10% reported they received training in their teacher licensure programs on how to work with SPED paraeducators. Eighty eight percent reported they received no preparation from their school district to work with SPED paraeducators. Very few states include teacher credentialing standards covering competency in managing, training, and supporting SPED paraeducators (Wallace et al., 2001).

Each school year, special and general education teachers may find themselves supervising one or more paraeducators within their classrooms. As a growing and important

segment of school personnel, SPED paraedcuators provide support for students with disabilities in both self-contained special education classrooms and general education classroom settings. Unfortunately, poorly prepared teachers offer another challenge to training, guiding, and equipping SPED paraeducators with the tools they need to appropriately perform their duties in the schools. Therefore, it is preferable that teachers have the knowledge and skills necessary to adequately supervise, guide, and manage the SPED paraeducators working in their schools and classrooms. With this, there is a growing awareness of the need to train special and general education teachers in the supervision of SPED paraeducators. However, research indicates most teachers have not acquired such knowledge and skills, either through pre-service preparation or in-service professional development. The teachers' lack of appropriate supervision and support for SPED paraeducators, may result in lost instructional time, less success for students, and poor decision making on the part of paraeducators (Austin, 2014).

Teacher Supervision and Training of Special Education Paraeducators

As noted in the previous section, teachers are rarely taught how to instruct and supervise the work of SPED paraeductors. Often teachers assume the SPED paraeducators already know what to do, while the paraeducators often wait for direction and guidance (Blalock, 1991). In their study, Giangreco and Broer (2005) found on average teachers spend less than 2% of their time in training, supervision, or other professional direction in supporting SPED paraeducators. The training and supervision provided by teachers for SPED paraeducators is often too broad and based on building specific needs and does not address the essential skills needed by the majority of SPED paraeducators (Pickett, Likins, & Wallace, 2003; Trautman, 2004). French (1997) suggested teachers responsible for establishing and designing the roles and responsibilities of the SPED paraeducators should consider the experience, training, comfort level, and knowledge

levels of the paraeducators. Therefore, teachers who are responsible for the supervision of SPED paraeducators should be able to clarify and communicate the paraeducators' expectation, effectively monitor their work, and provide feedback.

Supervision means the teacher, not the SPED paraeducator, designs and develops all aspects of instruction, including social skills development, behavior management, implementing communication systems, and data collection methods. Supervision does not mean the teacher has to be able to see the SPED paraeducator at all times, but it does mean the teacher knows at all time what the paraeducator is doing to support instruction (Austin, 2014). Even when preservice teachers are trained and prepared to supervise paraeducators, they are often not prepared to address the challenges that may exist within the teacher-SPED paraeducator teams (Salzberg & Morgan, 1995).

Challenges for Teachers Who Supervise Special Education Paraeducators

While the growing use of SPED paraeducators in the general education classrooms may provide multiple benefits for all students, problems may arise for teachers (Salzberg & Morgan, 1995). In most cases, general education teachers do not select which paraeducator will be assigned to their classrooms, therefore the presence of another adult may seem awkward for some teachers. Douglas et al. (2016) found age differences presented challenges. The presence of SPED paraeducators in the general education classroom, who may be more mature and experienced, may be unsettling for some general education teachers. This may add to the teachers' discomfort and reluctance to lead, direct, supevise, and support the SPED paraeducators assigned to their classrooms. Howes (2003) also referred to the tensions between leadership, management, and partnership which teachers may experience. When attempting to develop a partnership with the paraeducators, teachers may struggle with establishing a

collaborative relationship while maintaining their leadership and management roles and responsibilities in the classroom.

Often student schedules, classroom schedules, and demanding responsibilites required to be performed by the special and general education teachers limits the time available for supervising and supporting SPED paraeducators. Hofmeister (1993) suggested teachers are doing SPED paraeducators and students a disservice if they do not provide proper supervision and support to enable the paraeducators to gain the knowledge and skills needed to appropriately perform their duties. Given that many special and general education teachers lack the knowledge and appropriate training in the supervision and management of SPED paraeducators, it is important they develop the necessary skills to perform these tasks. Moreover, when special and general education teachers are expected to direct, guide, and support the the work of SPED paraeducators in their classrooms, it is imperative that they have the knowledge, skills, and competencies to perform these duties.

Teacher Competencies Needed to Supervise Special Education Paraeducators

There are many functions related to the supervision of something or somebody. Some functions of effective supervision include listening, educating, advising, directing, enhancing motivation, and monitoring activities, results, and performance (Glickman, Gordon, & Ross-Gordon, 2007). As it relates to schools and classrooms, Glickman et al. (2007) defined supervision as "leadership for the improvement of instruction" (p. 9). Therefore, in order to supervise and develop the skills needed of the SPED paraeducators, teachers should possess skills in leadership, interpersonal relationships, and organization and management. They should also attain the knowledge and understanding of the role expectations of the paraeducators (Glickman et al., 2007; Trautman, 2004).

In order to clarify the knowledge and skills needed by teachers to effectively supervise the work of SPED paraeducators, Wallace et al. (2001) conducted a study that included paraeducators, administrators, and teachers. The participants were asked to indicate the importance of 16 supervisory competency statements. While all three groups reported the importance of demonstrating all 16 supervisory competencies, teachers and administrators reported their demonstration at higher levels than did the paraeducators. As a result of the findings, Wallace et al. (2001) recommended teachers be prepared to work with SPED paraeducators through training that focused on specific skills. They encouraged improved clarification of roles and expectations through increased communication between teachers and paraeducators. In addition, they posited teachers are responsible for creating a pleasant environment, educating new members of the work group, and communicating regularly with others in the system. These studies indicated if teachers develop skills in planning, assessment, instruction, collaboration, and supervison of SPED paraeducators, they may see more successful inclusion for their students. While studying the issues of teacher training in supervision, several researchers have discussed the importance for teachers to develop effective management skills (French, 1997; Pickett, 1999; Wallace et al., 2001).

As classrooms are complex and dynamic work environments, teachers are expected to demonstrate effective management skills. Effective management includes planning work, communicating goals, and regulating activities of the workplace. Teachers have essentially become an executive, with duties resembling those of executives in business and management (French & Chopra, 2006; Morgan & Ashbaker, 2001). Boomer (1980) referred to the teacher as a program manager, a role that involved the development of student program goals and ensured the management of resources, which would include SPED paraeducators, to reach those goals.

Teachers who possess effective management skills are able to create an environment where collaboration is valued and paraeducators are able to develop the necessary skills to support the students they serve.

Similarly, French (1997, 2003) offered seven executive functions needed by teachers who supervise SPED paraeducators. They include the ability to provide orientation for new SPED paraeducators, plan, manage schedules, delegate, on-the-job training, evaluation, and managing the work environment.

Orientation. Orientation is critical to beginning supervision of any SPED paraeducator, as it establishes the relationship between the teacher and paraeducator, as well as the paraeducator and the school. As most paraeducators often lack the knowledge and skills to perform their duties, teachers should possess the ability to orient the paraeducator to the school and classroom. In their study, Wallace et al. (2001) found paraeducators were rarely oriented to the school and classroom communities prior to starting their job.

A proactive approach to orienting paraeducators to the school and classroom communities increases the liklihood of the paraeducator being well informed of the expectations of the job. Boomer (1980) suggested teachers and SPED paraeducators should meet prior to the paraeducators' first day on the job. Doing so will provide an opportunity to tour the school, introduce other staff members, discuss student confidentiality, and review job expectations.

Giangreco (2003) contended teachers should orient SPED paraeducators to the school, classroom, and students, and provide initial and ongoing training that aligns with their roles and responsibilities. He also suggested teachers provide prepared plans to follow, direct the SPED paraeducators' roles through continued supportive supervision, and provide opportunities for the paraeducators to be a contributing team member. In addition, orienting the paraeducator prior to

starting their job, allows time for teachers, schools, and/or districts to explain written policies, procedures, and rules. Beyond the hiring, arrival, and job basics, the paraeducators' supervisors can use information from the orientation to consider how best to direct the paraeducator's work based on the SPED paraeducator's skills and abilities. Also, providing sufficient time for orientation allows the teachers and paraeducators time to discuss role expecations.

When clarifying the roles and responsibilities of SPED paraeducators, teachers must consider a number of parameters. These include what the paraeducators can legally do, the paraeducators' experience, and the paraeducators' skills and abilities. Pickett (1999) defined role clarification as the "ability to share information with paraprofessionals about their roles as a member of program planning teams if required by district/agency policies as well as the roles of other team members... in the development of learner goals" (p. 18). District and school administrators need to ensure that both teachers and paraeducators understand their respective roles (Vasa & Steckelberg, 1997).

In order to avoid role ambiguity, districts and individual schools should establish standards and guidelines for role clarification through formal job descriptions. Research has shown the lack of guidance related to supervisory practice leaves role clarification to be shaped by "intuitive belief systems of professionals" (French & Pickett, 1997, p. 66), a process that likely ill serves both teachers and paraeducators. Role clarification often begins with the teacher deciding what duties he or she wants and/or needs the paraeducator to assume (Blalock, 1991). Once role clarification is established, teachers and paraeducators are much more likely to work as a team. Therefore, teachers and paraeducators can avoid role clarification issues by employing collaborative and proactive approaches.

Planning. Having the skills and abilities to plan are important. Special and general

education teachers are responsible for planning, setting goals, and delegating tasks the SPED paraeducators will carry out. French (1997) suggested the objective of planning requires teachers to set goals, describe activities and methods, and set expectations for student outcomes. Plans, as tools, provide the framework for what needs to be accomplished, how and when it will be accomplished, and who is responsible for doing what.

If teachers do not effectively plan, paraeducators may be expected to assume tasks they were never taught to perform. In their study, Downing et al. (2000) found that regardless of training or years of experience, some SPED paraeducators were required to adapt and modify curriculum for the students they served. Several studies have indicated the lack of planning for paraeducators on the part of the teachers may lead paraeducators to question their expected roles and responsibilities as well as their effectiveness in providing the necessary services to students (French & Chopra, 2006; Riggs & Mueller, 2001). Therefore, in order to support and serve the needs of their students, teachers should take responsibility for planning the tasks and activities paraeducators are expected to do.

Both time management and organization are essential components to successful teacher planning for paraeducators. For teachers, the task of planning for student activities and lessons is complex in and of itself, but it can become even more arduous when doing so for paraeducators. According to French (2003), a good plan,

Specifies how to do the task, the purposes of the task or lesson, the specific student needs to be addressed or strengths on which to capitalize, the materials to use, and the type of data needed to determine whether the student's achievement is satisfactory...or not satisfactory (p. 114).

Over time, planning can become less complicated as teachers learn to develop the most efficient

and effective manner to document and communicate their plans. In addition, French (1997) discussed the importance of scheduling and that it often takes place simultaneously with the development of lesson and work task plans.

Manage schedules. Schedules are necessary companions to plans. Schedules do not include the nature or goals of the activity nor the materials or resources needed in the lesson or classes. Those components are outlined in the plans.

Schedules can and should reflect the unique needs of the team and the circumstances under which activities and tasks are to occur. They can serve as a tool for managing the distribution for activities and tasks that need to be completed. Schedules should outline when tasks are to be completed, who will do them, and where the activities or tasks will occur (French, 1997). Moreover, schedules can serve as a resource for delineating the division of labor among team members. As teachers plan and manage schedules, they are often expected to then delegate some of the tasks and activities other team members are expected to perform.

Delegation. Delegation is one of the core concepts of management leadership. It is "the act of entrusting enough authority to another to get the task done without giving up the responsibility" (French, 1997, p. 104). Delegation not only allows teachers to take responsibilities for the tasks that only they can do, it also affords the opportunity for the SPED paraeducators to learn and practice new skills. Delegating is not an easy task as some teachers may find it difficult to relinquish control. As delegating requires teachers to take the time to train the paraeducators on how to perform given tasks, teachers may feel it easier to just do it themselves (French, 1997).

According to French (2003), "It takes time to delegate, to motivate paraeducators to do their jobs correctly, to communicate well, to organize instructional and managerial tasks, and to

plan and prepare for paraeducators" (p. 93). Delegation should provide guidance, define the expected outcomes, the timeframe, and the level of authority, but should not require that the SPED paraeducator perform the tasks in exactly the same manner as the teacher. When effectively done, delegation allows everyone to be more efficient and to make the most of their time.

Training. Training is a critical component to ensuring SPED paraeducators have the knowledge, skills, and abilities to perform their job duties. Teachers are often responsible for determining and providing the training. Training for paraeducators new to the profession should look different from those who have more experience. Although this makes sense, often schools and districts do not differentiate the training needs (Riggs & Mueller, 2001; Wallace et al., 2001). Teachers, schools, and districts should consider the group needs, what do all paraeducators need to know, and the individual needs, what do some paraeducators need to know, when determining the training needs of SPED paraeducators. Training needs may also be dependent on what responsibilities the paraeducators will be expected to perform as well as the contexts in which they will be working.

Training should be purposeful and according to Joyce and Showers (1980) focused on an explanation of why something works or happens the way it does, demonstration and/or modeling, practice, feedback, and coaching for use. An explanation of why something works or happens the way it does, means the skill or concept is clearly explained and described. Demonstration or modeling describes or shows how the skill or concept is applied. Practice means that the SPED paraeducator actually tries out the skill or concept under carefully controlled and safe conditions. Feedback is then given to the paraeducator regarding his or her performance. Feedback is most effective when it is descriptive, specific, directed, well-timed, and accurate (French, 1997). The

last element of training is coaching. Coaching occurs on-the-job and while the SPED paraeducator works with students. Coaching is the most significant of all training practices because it allows the SPED paraeducator to fine tune newly gained skills until the skills become engrained into their repertoire. When teachers take on the coaching role, they must be careful to separate the coaching functions from the evaluative functions of their job.

Evaluation. Monitoring the effectiveness of the supports the SPED paraeducators provide for students and then providing feedback to the paraeducators is important. The evaluation of paraeducators is a critical supervisory/management skill. Evaluations serve as tools for assessing and providing feedback to the paraeducators related to their job performance. "Feedback is a communication to a person that gives the person information about how he or she performs" (French, 1997, p. 121). In order to perform their duties, SPED paraeducators need to know what they do well and what they can improve upon. As an important element in the management and supervision of paraeducators, a study conducted by Riggs and Mueller (2001), revealed there is little consensus on who is responsible for evaluating the work of the paraeducators, when and how often paraeducators are evaluated, as well as how the information is utilized.

Evaluations include observing the SPED paraeducators' task performance and behavior. This means teachers need to find time to watch the paraeducators doing their work. French (2003) suggested both unfocused and focused observations be used when evaluating paraeducators. Unfocused observations occur when there are no preplanned skills or behaviors the teacher is targeting to assess. Focused observations are intentional and typically target a particular skill or task the SPED paraeducator is performing. To effectively evaluate the performance of the SPED paraeducators, teachers should employ both unfocused and focused

observations. The more frequently teachers observe and provide feedback it is much more likely the SPED paraeducators will have the information they need to maintain, change, and/or improve their practices.

Managing the work environment. When discussing the executive functions of paraeducator supervision, French (2003) suggested workplace management entailed communication with paraeducators, conflict management, and problem solving. Several resources have emphsized the importance of ongoing communication between teacherparaeducator teams (Devlin, 2008; Morgan & Ashbaker, 2001; Trautman, 2004). For example Daniels and McBride (2001) argued, "Successful interactions between the teacher and paraeducator will depend on the teacher's ability to delineate and articulate responsibilities and task assignments, the teacher's supervisory abilities and communication skills, and the teacher's effort in building trusting and collaborative partnerships" (p. 67). The success of a collaborative partnership may be dependent on the teacher's willingness to provide SPED paraeducators the information they need to appropriately support the needs of the students they are assigned to serve. For successful implementation of inclusion practices, ongoing communication is essential for teacher and paraeducator teams. In their study, Morgan and Ashbaker (2001) stated, "most teachers know often their most effective communication does not involve speech, but effective communication does mean conveying a message in such a way that the person you are communicating with understands it in the way you intended" (p. 24). Therefore, successful interactions between the teachers and SPED paraeducators may also be dependent on the teachers' ability and skills to define and clearly articulate the paraeducators' responsibilities and task assignments (Daniels & McBride, 2001; Douglas et al., 2016).

Ongoing communication provides teacher-paraeducator teams the opportunity to

collaboratie, problem solve, and manage conflict. In an effort to build a trusting and collaborative partnership, teacher-paraeducator teams need to establish ways to deal with issues or concerns that might arise. Teachers and paraeducators may need to find time to jointly problem solve when it has to do with students, schedules, materials, and instruction (French, 2003). As in any work setting, schools are not immune to conflict. The sources of conflict in schools can stem from relationships, data and information, values, structural issues, interests, and personal preferences and styles (French, 2003). Some conflicts are more easily resolved then other, particurlarly those surrounding structure, style, and interest. Relationships, values, and data conflicts are less easily resolved. As teacher-paraeducator teams may be faced with unresolved conflicts, their ability to manage their conflicts may be contingent on their ability to persevere through the unresolved conflicts and focus on the their work together in supporting the needs of students.

In addition, the success of the work of general education teacher and paraeducator teams in inclusion settings, may be dependent on their acceptance and willingness to support the concept of inclusive practices. Studies have shown the negative perceptions, biases, and attitudes about inclusion services can undermine the work of teacher-paraeducator teams (Mastropieri & Scruggs, 2001). Often the negative perceptions and attitudes are brought about by a lack of training in special education and inclusive practices as well as a lack of resources (Hunter-Johnson et al., 2014). In her study, Idol (2006) found secondary teachers were not as receptive to the practices as their elementary counterparts. As a result of this, the effectiveness of teacher-paraeducator partnerships in secondary schools may be diminished given that inclusive practices requires the involvement of and collaboration between all educational professionals to be successful.

Effective teamwork is based on well-functioning workplaces. Many effective teams have team leaders who manage the work environment. Teachers as team leaders, should establish systems for communicating, solving problems, and managing or resolving problems. It is crucial that the best possible practices be used in the classroom. Therefore, it is important that the teachers as supervisors of students and other adults, master the skills that will support and ensure student success (French, 2003; Morgan & Ashbaker, 2001). When roles, expectations, and goals are clearly defined for all, teacher-paraeducator teams have the ability to be more efficient, productive, and effective in their practices together. Thus, when teachers and SPED paraeducators are clearly working as a team, a positive educational atmosphere exists which favorably supports student learning and achievement (Devlin, 2008).

Adults learn, retain, and use what they perceive is relevant to their needs (Pickett, 1999). As it relates to the collaborative partnership among teachers and SPED paraeducators, teachers may need to understand the relationship between what they themselves are learning and practicing and how it influences their day-to-day activities in their work with paraeducators. Weiner (2003) suggested to effectively change teaching practices within the inclusive general education classrooms, teachers need to demonstrate a high degree of initiative and responsibility in not only supporting the needs of students with disabilities but also in coordinating and guiding the work of the SPED paraeducators assigned to their classrooms. Equally important is the role others play in the development, facilitation, and support for the work of the teacher-SPED paraeducator teams in the inclusive classroom settings.

Supporting and Facilitating Inclusive Practices

It is well documented that building and district administrators play a key role in the successful implementation of inclusive practices (Riehl, 2000; Salisbury, 2006; Tobin, 2006).

Successful inclusive practices are often associated with administrative support at both the district and school building levels (Mastropieri & Scruggs, 2001; Villa & Thousand, 2005). Villa and Thousand (2005), outlined several actions that secondary administrators can take to ensure success for their inclusive practices. Some of those actions included building consensus and a vision for inclusive practices, developing the knowledge and skills of those responsible for providing inclusive services, creating time to plan, communicate, and collaborate, and acknowledging and expanding human and teaching resources. As most schools attempt to provide some form of inclusion for students with disabilities, the administrators's knowldege and skills regarding inclusive practices and what is needed to support such practices are essential. For example, in their study, Soodak, Podell, and Lehman (1998) found that collaboration was an important factor in providing a supportive environment for inclusion. In addition, they found that teachers felt class size played a role in the implementation of successful inclusion. The administrator's ability to provide time for training, collaboration, and possibly reducing class size are factors to consider when determining the needed supports for inclusion.

Considering these factors, administrators are in the position to shape and influence the practices and environment to ensure successful implementation of inclusion support for students with disabilities. In her study, Salisbury (2006) found the schools that provided inclusion support for students with disabilities, had strong administrator support and commitment to the practices. She stated for successful implementation of inclusion the administrator often has, "do what it takes attitude, inclusive language, collaborative approach to decision making, and a philosophical commitment to inclusive education" (p. 79). Administrators play a critical role in transforming their schools to become more effective and inclusive.

Schools with successful inclusion programs have developed them because of strong and

active administrator support (McLeskey & Waldron, 2015). In their study, McLeskey and Waldron emphasized for administrators this, "included demonstrating expertise at building a vision and setting direction, understanding and developing people, and redesigning the school to support teachers" (p. 73). Haller and Kleine (2001) stated, "when administrators create or help to create a structured set of mutable relationships in their schools, they do so in order to attain some educational objective" (p. 11). The development of the skills and supports needed by general education teachers and SPED paraeducators, working in the inclusive classrooms, may ultimately be dependent on how the administrator perceives his or her role and responsibility in helping to attain and facilitate successful and competent inclusive practices. According to Wood (1998), "Successful and competent inclusion takes patience, perseverance, and time. ... Systems and people adapt to changes in developmental stages when sufficient support has been provided, independence has been nurtured, and collaborative relationships have been allowed to evolve" (p. 194). This may suggest those responsible for the oversight of inclusive practices, the ability to provide and support a culture of collaboration and learning will ultimately result in improved practices and services for students with disabilities.

CHAPTER 3

Research Design and Methodology

A qualitative research design was used to describe, analyze, and interpret perceptions, beliefs and experiences of district and building administrators, special education teachers as well as general education teachers and SPED paraeducators regarding their work together in general education classrooms in a mid-size suburban high school (Lapan et al., 2012). Criteria for employing a qualitative research design identifies the use of open-ended questions, interviews, and observation data in search of common themes, patterns, and interpretations (Creswell, 2015).

Qualitative research design allows for flexibility as data are collected. As data are collected, emergent design provides flexibility in the number of interviews, observations, and participants. Emergent design, "indicates that the intent or purpose of a study and the questions asked by the researcher may change during the process of inquiry based on feedback or responses from participants" (Creswell, 2015, p. 129). As activity theory takes into account individuals, their colleagues, and co-workers who all bring different perspectives, experiences, beliefs, and possible motives to an activity system, I had the flexibility to follow leads as they emerged from the interview responses and observations.

Research Site

Lakeview Public Schools (LPS, a pseudonym) is a suburban school district located in south central Kansas. LPS is one of the 20 largest school districts in Kansas. The district operates 12 student attendance centers. They include six elementary schools, two middle schools, one alternative high school, one alternative special education center, one early childhood center, and one comprehensive high school.

During the 2016-17 school year, LPS had a total enrollment of approximately 5,670 students. Lakeview High School (LHS) is a comprehensive high school serving students in grades 9-12. At the time of the study, there were approximately 1,830 high school students attending LHS of which 242 (13.21%) were students with disabilities (Kansas State Department of Education, 2017). LHS employed five administrators, nine licensed support staff, 89 licensed teaching staff, and 47 classified staff members. Of the total number of staff assigned to LHS, 31 were general and special education paraeducators and 12 were special education teachers.

Given the percentage of students with disabilities attending LHS and the number of licensed staff members as well as paraeducators it was selected as the research site for this study. Furthermore, this afforded a greater opportunity in the selection of potential participants. As well as having a larger number of possible participants at this site, the teacher-paraeducator teams chosen for this study were responsible for supporting students with high incidence disabilities, such as learning disabilities, other health impairments, emotional/behavioral disabilities, and mild intellectual disabilities in core content general education classroom settings.

In addition, LHS was selected as the research site because LPS is not a member of a Special Education Cooperative or Interlocal. While Special Education Cooperatives and Interlocals are a common special education service delivery system in Kansas, they are less typical in other parts of the US where special education services are provided by the district. Cooperatives and Interlocals are comprised of several school districts accessing the special education resources provided by the Cooperative or Interlocal.

In Kansas, the work of a Cooperative is the responsibility of one of the member districts.

The sponsoring district is responsible for the hiring and oversight of all special education services and the staff assigned to the districts that comprise the Cooperative. Cooperative staff

are governed by the same Board of Education as the sponsoring district. Interlocals on the other hand are separate entities and are governed by their own Board of Directors. Interlocals hire their own administrative staff, special education teachers, support staff, and classified staff, such as secretaries and paraeducators. Interlocals are also responsible for assigning all special education staff to the districts that comprise the Interlocal.

To eliminate any concerns or misunderstandings related to who was responsible for the employment and oversight of the teachers and paraeducators within the district and/or school, it was important to me that the district selected be solely responsible for the implementation of all general and special education services and the hiring of all general and special education personnel. Consequently, this eliminated an additional layer of bureaucracy within the district and/or school.

Participants

I utilized purposeful sampling in the selection of the study participants. Doing so allowed for information-rich insight and understanding into the unique perspectives regarding the circumstances under which the participants work (Merriam, 2009; Patton, 2015). Given the complexity of the content taught and that most high school general education teachers are highly qualified to teach specific content (i.e. math, science, social studies, language arts), the selection of core content teachers was a priority for this study. This imparted an interesting viewpoint as to how teacher-SPED paraeducator teams perceived their roles, responsibilities, expectations, and needs in general education classroom settings through the lens of activity theory. This also provided insight into how they described their experiences and practices as they worked together in general education classroom settings. In order to address the phenomenon of the study, the

participants had the characteristics and experience necessary to answer the research questions and provide the most meaningful and robust data (Merriam, 2009).

I contacted district level leaders by email to determine their interest and agreement to participate in the study. Once agreement from the district was obtained and the Wichita State University Institutional Research Board (IRB) process was completed and approved, I contacted, by email, the district's director of special education and the high school principal. The district's director of special education agreed to participate in the study. The building principal declined to participate but did provide the names of three assistant principals at the school and asked that I contact them to request their participation. I emailed all three assistant principals, two of who agreed to participate. From my interview with one of the assistant principals, I obtained the names of the school's instructional coach and the special education department chairperson. I emailed the instructional coach and she agreed to participate in an individual interview.

Upon the completion of my interview with the instructional coach, she agreed to assist me in scheduling focus group interviews with the special education teachers and the SPED paraeducators. She also provided the names of 18 general education core content teachers who had one or more paraeducators assigned to their classrooms. I emailed all 18 general teachers, which yielded nine who agreed to participate. Three focus group interviews were scheduled with the nine general education teachers. With the assistance of the instructional coach and the special education department chairperson, a focus group interview was scheduled with nine special education teachers and another focus group interview was scheduled with 14 SPED paraeducators.

Data Collection Methods

Qualitative data collection for this study consisted primarily of focus group discussions, individual interviews, observations, and a review of documents (Creswell, 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2011). Focus group discussions and individual interviews allowed me to collect information-rich data regarding perceptions, experiences, practices, and beliefs of general and special education teachers, district and building administrators, and SPED paraeducators as it related to the activity of supporting students with disabilities in inclusive classroom settings (Merriam, 2009; Patton, 2015).

Focus groups. Focus group interviews were conducted utilizing a semi-structured interview process. This allowed group participants to hear others' perspectives, and by listening to each other's responses, affirm, disaffirm, and/or make additional comments (Patton, 2015). Patton (2015) described focus group interviews as an opportunity to enhance data quality through the interactions of the participants. He stated, "participants tend to provide checks and balances on each other, which weeds out false or extreme views" (p. 478). Three focus group interviews were conducted with the general education teachers, one focus group interview was conducted with the SPED paraeducators, and one focus group interview was conducted with the special education teachers.

Each focus group interview with the general education teachers was to be comprised of three teachers each. Unfortunately, the day of the interviews two teachers contacted me stating they would not be able to participate due to a conflict in scheduling. As I had already committed to interviewing the other general education teacher participants, I decided to proceed. One focus group interview included three general education teachers. The other two interviews were

comprised of two general education teacher participants for each interview. The seven general education teachers who participated in the study had 1 year to 10 years experience at the school.

The focus group interviews with the SPED paraeducators and special education teachers were arranged and scheduled with support from the school's instructional coach and the special education department chairperson. There were 14 paraeducators and nine special education teacher participants. One focus group interview was held with all nine special education teachers. The focus group interview with all 14 paraeducators was held over two sessions; due to time restraints and given the fact that I was unable to complete the full interview in one session. All focus group participants were given the option to participate in an individual interview if they were unwilling or unable to participate in a focus group interview, none of which chose that option.

The nine special education teachers who participated in the study had 1 year to 23 years of experience at the school. The 14 SPED paraeducators who participated in the study had three weeks to 17 years of experience at the school. Of the 14 SPED paraeducators who participated, five where in their first year in that position, and five had 2 years to 4 years of experience. Of the remaining four paraeducators who participated in the study, one had 7 years of experience, one had 10 years of experience, one had 15 years of experience, and one had 17 years of experience at the school.

The interview protocol utilized open-ended questions. This format allowed for flexibility within the protocol questions to explore and probe topics that may be central to answering the study's research questions (Creswell, 2015). The semi-structured focus group interviews allowed for emerging views through the exploration of individual and collective perspectives regarding the activity of supporting students with disabilities and the work of general education

teacher and SPED paraeducators teams in general education classroom settings. The focus group interview protocols can be found in Appendix A.

Individual interviews. Invitations to participate in an individual interview were sent, by email, to the building principal, three assistant principals, the district's director of special education, and the school's instructional coach. Agreement to participate was obtained from two assistant principals, the district's director of special education, and the instructional coach. This provided an opportunity to gain insight into how administrators and the instructional coach described their experiences, beliefs, and practices as they related to the their work and the work of general education teacher and SPED paraeducator teams in general education classroom settings. The district and building administrators who participated in the study had 3 years to 12 years of experience in their positions with the district or school. The instructional coach was in her 5th year in that position.

Semi-structured interviews asking a set of open-ended pre-selected questions were employed (Merriam, 2009). As the interviews were semi-structured in nature, it allowed for follow-up questions or clarification, as needed (Merriam, 2009). The interview protocols can be found in Appendix A.

The focus group and individual interviews took approximately 45 to 60 minutes. I recorded all interviews using a digital voice recorder from which I transcribed verbatim each focus group and individual interview (Merriam, 2009). Once the transcriptions were complete, I emailed them to the participants. Participants were asked to review the transcriptions and provide feedback to ensure I had accurately captured what was stated during the interviews. Doing this also allowed me to ask several follow-up and clarifying questions from the participants' responses (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012). In addition to the interviews, I conducted

observations in the general education classrooms where both the general education teachers and SPED paraeducators were assigned to work together.

Observations. As a source of data collection, I conducted five direct observations, in five different general education classroom settings of the general education teachers and SPED paraeducators who participated in the study. Each classroom was observed one time over a period of two days. The observations allowed me to document and observe the environmental context in which the general education teachers and SPED paraeducators work together.

To understand the complexity of the work of general education and SPED paraeducator teams in inclusion classroom settings, observations, as a method of data collection, assisted in identifying behaviors, interactions, and practices among the participants in a natural setting (Merriam, 2009). This further benefited in understanding the context of the general education teachers-SPED paraeducators team relationship, characteristics, and their work together within the general education classroom settings. In addition, conducting observations allowed me to compare how the participants described their practices during the interviews to what was actually occurring in the classrooms.

I collected observation data using field notes. The field notes included detailed written descriptions of the setting, participants, activities, and direct quotes of the participants (Marshall & Rossman, 2011; Merriam, 2009). An open-ended, non-participatory approach was utilized to ascertain any recurring dimensions of behaviors, actions, interactions, and relationships among the general education teacher and SPED paraeducator teams (Lapan et al., 2012). The classrooms observed included two English-language arts classes, a math class, a social studies class, and a science class. Observation sessions lasted the length of the class period, which was approximately 80 minutes and allowed me to triangulate emerging data in combination with the

interviews and documents analysis (Merriam, 2009). In addition to the focus group interviews, individual interviews, and observations, I reviewed documents relevant to the study.

Documents. I reviewed and analyzed documents pertinent to the understanding of the context of the study. According to Merriam (2009), "documents of all types can help the researcher uncover meaning, develop understanding, and discover insights relevant to the research problem" (p. 163). I reviewed documents relevant to general and special education teacher and SPED paraeducator expectations, roles and responsibilities, and training in the classroom, school, and district. Additional documents for review included procedure guides for special education teachers and SPED paraeducators, a resource guide for SPED paraeducators, job descriptions for general and special education teachers and SPED paraeducators, and the district's salary schedule for paraeducators

Data Analysis and Interpretation

Data analysis is, "the process of making sense out of the data. And making sense out of the data involves consolidating, reducing, and interpreting what people have said and what the researcher has seen and read" (Merriam, 2009, pp. 175-176). It is a complex process that involves organizing the data to develop an overall understanding of the information (Creswell, 2015). As data analysis is an ongoing process, the multiple sources of data from this study were reviewed numerous times and systematically analyzed. This process assisted in revealing patterns, themes, meaningful categories, and new ideas leading to a better understanding of the phenomenon being investigated (Merriam, 2009; Stake, 1995). Furthermore, I utilized the components of my activity theory framework as the foundation for the initial organizing and analysis of the data collected.

I transcribed the data from the responses to the focus group/individual interview

questions and the observational notes into Word documents. From there, I organized the data into categories, patterns, and themes. This process assisted in gleaning any deviations, new patterns, codes, or themes that emerged through the data analysis. The observational notes provided a method to document, compare, and check what was reported during the interviews. As subsequent data were collected, I focused on the categories, patterns, or themes and utilized a constant comparative method to systematically locate any similarities and differences (Glaser, 1965; Lapan et al., 2012; Merriam, 2009).

As documents, "serve as substitutes for records of activity that the researcher could not observe directly" (Stake, 1995, p. 68), an analysis of documents, as mediating material resources or artifacts, provided insight into how the participants perceived, understood, and described their roles, responsibilities, and expectations. Documents were analyzed to determine their authenticity. In addition, content from the documents were analyzed, categorized, and coded to allow for a systematic retrieval of the data (Merriam, 2009; Stake, 1995). Content analysis of documents allowed me to interpret, identify, and extrapolate any words or statements that were relevant to the research study (Busch et al., 2005). Document review added to a rich description of the information, which will allow readers to evaluate how the data might be applicable or useful in other contexts.

Inductive analysis of the data assisted in discovering categories, patterns, or themes (Marshall & Rossman, 2011; Patton, 2015). This aided in organizing and understanding the meaning of the data as well as provided a system of retrieval of the data (Merriam, 2009; Stake, 1995). Thus, it was important to record what I felt was most meaningful, usable, and relevant (Merriam, 2009). When trying to discern what is meaningful and to reduce and transform the data, I continually referred back to my research questions and theoretical framework.

Research Quality

Research quality is essential when conducting a qualitative research study. The trustworthiness of the study is dependent on the quality of the research. Trustworthiness is established when the qualitative research techniques employed are valid, reliable, and credible (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). Given the data presented, Merriam (2009) suggested trustworthiness means the findings accurately capture what was said and observed. The trustworthiness of qualitative research encompasses the concepts of credibility, dependability, and transferability of the study, its data, and the data collection methods (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Patton, 2015).

Credibility

One of the most important criteria for evaluating a qualitative study is its credibility. Credibility is contingent on rigorous methods and elements such as triangulation, member checks, peer review, and an audit trail (Merriam, 2009). "Triangulation remains a principal strategy to ensure for validity and reliability" (Merriam, 2009, p. 216). To confirm the emerging findings of this study, the use of multiple sources and types of data allowed me to triangulate the data. The multiple types of data included focus group and individual interviews, observations, and a review of documents. This allowed me to compare and check what was said during the interviews to what was observed during the observations, as well as what was discovered in the documents. In order to determine that I accurately captured and interpreted what was said and observed during the interviews and observations, member checking was utilized by providing participants the opportunity to review and provide feedback of the transcribed interviews and observation notes (Marshall & Rossman, 2011; Merriam, 2009).

Creswell (2015) recommended the process of peer review to strengthen the accuracy and trustworthiness of the research study findings. This suggests including a peer to review the process of the study, to ask questions, and to provide opportunity to verify the findings. I collaborated with two colleagues throughout the research study to reflect, validate the findings, and discuss any concerns, biases, or oversights. In addition, credibility was established when the researcher, as an instrument in the study, was viewed as a reliable and credible (Merriam, 2009).

Dependability

Dependability refers to the degree to which the findings are reliable and consistent with the data (Merriam, 2009). Dependability can be strengthened through the use of an audit trail or as Lapan et al. (2012) referred to it as a dependability audit. I utilized and maintained an audit trail, which allowed me to record and document how the study was conducted, the data collection and analysis, and any changes to the research process made during the study and the reasons for the changes. As stated earlier, the use of triangulation, member checking, and peer review also contributed to the dependability of this research study.

Transferability

Transferability refers to evidence supporting the generalization of the findings to similar contexts and people. According to Tracy (2010), transferability is achieved, "when readers feel as though the story of the research overlaps with their own situation and they intuitively transfer the research to their own action" (p. 845). This was established by providing a rich and robust description of the research sites, participants, and the context of the study (Lapan et al., 2012). Doing so will allow readers to deduct how my findings might relate and transfer to their own experiences and context (Lapan et al., 2012; Merriam, 2009).

Ethical Considerations

The Wichita State University Institutional Review Board (IRB) approved this research proposal before any participants were contacted and any data were collected. To ensure the protection of human subjects, I provided participants with a written summary of the study, which included a description of the research procedures, their purposes, any foreseeable risks, and anticipated benefits (Stake, 1995). In addition, the summary included information on how and when the participants' information will be kept and destroyed once the study was complete.

Participation in the study was voluntary and I adhered to proper measures to ensure the confidentiality of the participants. Prior to participating in the interviews and observations, written consent was obtained from all participates. Anonymity was maintained for the participants, school, and school district through the use of pseudonyms (Merriam, 2009; Stake, 1995). Participants were given the opportunity to ask questions, not to answer a particular question, as well as to withdraw from the research study at any time (Kilbourn, 2006). I maintained confidentiality throughout and after the study was complete. I utilized a secure password-protected computer to store the encrypted data from the interviews and observations. Upon completion of the study, all data collected for the purpose of this study will be maintained in a secure location for a minimum of five years. The consent form can be found in Appendix B.

Positionality and Reflexivity

To ensure the trustworthiness, credibility, and dependability of a research study it is important to identify anything that could potentially influence the study design, its findings, or conclusions. Qualitative researchers incorporate the etic perspective (outsider-researcher) and an emic perspective (insider-participant) viewpoints when assimilating and interpreting the findings (Lapan et al., 2012). Therefore, in qualitative research it is important to acknowledge one's own

beliefs and values and how they can shape the research, interpretation of the findings, and conclusions (Haller & Kleine, 2001). According to Merriam (2009), "investigators need to explain their biases, dispositions, and assumptions regarding the research to be undertaken" (p. 219). As research data transformation can be highly influenced by my own perspective, subjectivity, and experiences, it is important that I understand my relationship to the research study and the participants (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). This not only assisted in shaping and recognizing my understanding of myself but also assisted in understanding the experiences of the study participants.

As a special education service provider and administrator for over 40 years, I have experienced several transformations in the service delivery models for students with disabilities in the public schools. I entered the field of special education, in the public schools, as a speech-language pathologist. I worked in that capacity for 21 years. For the past 21 years, I have been a special education administrator. For 11 of those 21 years, I served as a special education program coordinator in an urban school district and for the past ten years, I have been an Assistant Director of Special Education of a Special Education Cooperative serving several suburban districts.

When I started my career in 1976, the implementation of PL 94-142 was just beginning in schools. In sorting out what this law meant for students with disabilities, the schools where I was assigned worked to define and implement the provisions of the law. PL 94-142 required, based on the individual needs of students, students with disabilities be educated in the least restrictive environment (LRE). Looking back, it is unclear whether districts and schools truly understood the intent of LRE. I say this because, at that time, the majority of students with

disabilities, in the schools where I worked, were provided their special education services exclusively in a special education classroom.

When PL 94-142 was reauthorized in the early 1990s the true intent of LRE changed for most districts and schools. Districts and schools began developing special education programs and classrooms that supported students with a variety of disabilities, in particular for students with high incidence disabilities. During that same time, in the schools where I was assigned, more students with disabilities began receiving their special education services in the general education classrooms.

With the need to support students with disabilities in the general education classrooms, districts and schools began hiring more special education (SPED) paraeducators. The hiring of more SPED paraeducators allowed the schools to educate more students in the general education classrooms but also presented concerns surrounding the paraeducators' role, responsibilities, and expectations in the general education classrooms. From my experience, it was never quite clear whether it was the special or general education teachers' responsibility to guide and support the work of the SPED paraeducators.

Having had the opportunity to observe SPED paraeducators in many general education classrooms over the years, I would often see the paraeducators doing what I would call "their own thing." In most cases, paraeducators would either sit right next to a student or would be at the back of the room working with a student or a group of students. Whether this was appropriate or not, I am unsure. If direction and guidance was or was not provided by the special or general education teachers, I would assume the paraeducators were doing what they thought was best for the students they served. Given my experience and assumptions, I have a vision of

the potential effective teacher and SPED paraeducator teams have in supporting the needs of students with disabilities in inclusion general education classroom settings.

My experience and background in special education and because I act as the research and data collection instrument, I identified my positionality and worked to ensure it did not interfere with the phenomenon under study (Merriam, 2009). I made an effort to separate my personal subjectivity, beliefs, and values from the data collection and analysis (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). I utilized reflective journaling to document my experiences during the data collection and analysis processes. This included such things as how I developed my interview questions, how I presented myself to the participants, how the participants perceived me as the researcher, and documenting what I thought was socially significant related to the culture and context of the study (Chiseri-Strater, 1996). In order to minimize the influence of my personal subjectivity related to this study, it was important to ensure the results of the data collection only reflected the thoughts, perceptions, and experiences of the participants.

CHAPTER 4

Findings

The purpose of this study was to investigate how the participants' perceptions, experiences, and beliefs influence the provision of services for high school students with disabilities in inclusion general education classroom settings. The 34 study participants included three administrators, seven general education teachers, one general education instructional coach teacher, nine special education teachers (also referred to as case managers), and 14 special education (SPED) paraeducators. This study focused primarily on the collaborative partnership among general education teachers and SPED paraeducators and how their work together influenced the provision of services and supports for students with disabilities in general education classroom environments. As others' perceptions, beliefs, and experiences can affect the work of the general education teacher and SPED paraeducator collaborative partnerships, it was important to understand how administrators and special education teachers also influenced the provision of inclusion services for students with disabilities.

This chapter presents the findings from three months of data collection during the winter of 2017-2018. The findings procured from the coding process converged on three major categories: (a) implementation and benefits of inclusion practices, (b) expectations for those involved in the implementation of inclusion practices, and (c) resources and barriers for the work of general education teacher and SPED paraeducator teams.

Lakeview High School

Lakeview High School (LHS) is a comprehensive high school serving students in grades 9-12. It is located in the Lakeview Public Schools (LPS), which is a suburban school district in south central Kansas. LPS is one of the 20 largest school districts in Kansas. The district's

2016-2017 enrollment reported a total of 5,670 students attending LPS. During that same year, LHS's enrollment reported a total of 1,830 high school students attending the school of which 242 (13.21%) were students with disabilities (Kansas State Department of Education, 2017). Students with disabilities served at the school included both high incidence disabilities (i.e. specific learning disabilities, other health impairments, mild intellectual disabilities, emotional/behavioral disabilities) and low incidence disabilities (i.e. autism, multiple disabilities, hearing and vision impairments). LHS employs five administrators, nine licensed support staff (i.e. guidance counselors, school psychologists), 89 licensed teaching staff, and 47 classified staff members. Thirty-one of the classified staff are general and special education paraeducators and 12 of the licensed teaching staff are special education teachers.

The administrators who participated in the study had 3-12 years of experience in their current positions. The general education teacher participants had 1-10 years experience and the nine special education teachers who participated in the study had 1-23 years of experience at the school. The 14 SPED paraeducators who participated in the study had 3 weeks-17 years of experience at the school.

According to the LPS's *Special Education Certified Procedure Guide*, students with disabilities are to receive their education in a chronologically age appropriate, general education environment to the maximum extent appropriate unless a placement of this type is determined to be inappropriate even with supplemental aids and services. The determination of appropriate special education programs and services and the extent to which a student will participate in the general education programs shall be determined by the members of the Individual Education Program (IEP) Team and based on the student's individual needs.

Implementation of Inclusion Practices at LHS

When considering a continuum of service delivery models and potential placement options for students with disabilities, the general education classroom setting should be the first consideration. Although services and placement decisions are based on the individual needs of the student, IEP teams must consider with or without supplementary aids and services and/or modifications whether a student with disabilities can benefit and be successful in general education classroom environments (Marx et al., 2014; Rozalski, Stewart, & Miller, 2010). When students with disabilities are provided their special education services in the general education classroom, it is often referred to as inclusion. This section addresses how participants defined and described the implementation of inclusion practices as well as the benefits of inclusion for students with disabilities at LHS.

Defining and Implementing Inclusion Practices at LHS

In order to gain an understanding of inclusive practices at LHS, participants provided insight as to how they made meaning of inclusive practices, what those practices looked like, and how inclusion was implemented for students with disabilities at the school.

Meaning of inclusive practices at LHS. From the interviews, it was clear the participants' perceptions of what it meant to implement inclusive practices were similar. Administrators, general education teachers, special education teachers, and paraeducators all believed providing inclusive services meant supporting students with disabilities in the regular classroom. For example, a general education teacher shared his understanding of inclusive practices at LHS, "That would be a classroom setting in which students with IEP accommodations are included in the room with regular education students." Providing such support was primarily the responsibility of the paraeducator, as he went on to explain, "The

material is presented to the whole class and a paraeducator is present and ready to provide assistance to those students and any accommodations needed in accordance with their IEP." In similar fashion, a special education teacher described inclusion practices and how special education teachers and SPED paraeducators have implemented inclusion at LHS:

For us, the way we do inclusion is our students [with disabilities] are put into classrooms with regular education students, taught by regular education teachers with support from our paraeducators. And then sometimes as special education teachers we consult with those [general education] teachers if there are hiccups with individual students. But our paras are pretty good so they usually are able to smooth things out on their own... That's pretty much how we do inclusion here, in the core [content] areas.

Among all interview participants, it was evident that SPED paraeducators played a key role in the implementation of inclusive services for students with disabilities at LHS.

Implementation of inclusion at LHS. Inclusion of students with disabilities in general education classroom settings has been in place at LHS for approximately 10 years. As one teacher conveyed, "It may have been 10, 11 years ago we started the inclusion program at Lakeview." Prior to the implementation of inclusion practices at LHS, it was believed the school had created a divide among students, which limited opportunities for students with disabilities to participate fully in school activities. Placing students with disabilities into general education classrooms was an effort to eliminate those distinctions between the two groups. One general education teacher explained:

We had like two separate schools, one for special education and one for the rest of the students. It was pretty evident that the special education kids didn't feel like they were part of the school. Once we started putting them in regular classrooms, they became part

of the school and felt like they could participate in sporting events, activities, and clubs. Before that they just didn't feel like they could.

Participants saw the importance of eliminating the divide. They believed doing so has allowed students with disabilities greater opportunity for participation with their non-disabled peers in all aspects of high school life.

Although SPED paraeducators at LHS are assigned to the general education classrooms to support the needs of students with disabilities, several participants appreciated the paraeducators availability to assist all students. A general education teacher offered, "I would say my paras support a lot of students that are not technically on their caseload. They are very available to any student who happens to be struggling." Several other participants expressed the benefits of having paraeducators available to assist all students, as another general education teacher shared, "Yeah, she will help all students...so nobody knows which ones or who the para is there to help because...she just kind of helps everybody, as they need it." SPED paraeducators' willingness to assist all students further reduced the distinctions between students with and without disabilities. An administrator further verified this view of how SPED paraeducators were used in regular education classrooms:

Those teachers who do a really good job with inclusion practices use paraeducators to assist all students, not just special education students. But they're seen by the teacher and the students as an assistant to the educational process and they float around the room as students are working, helping with whatever project is at hand.

SPED paraeducators were viewed as the primary vehicle for the implementation of inclusion services at LHS and their efforts contributed to eliminating the divisions among students by providing support for all. This was further verified during my observations in general education

classrooms. Because both the teachers and paraeducators assisted and supported multiple students, I was unaware which students were students with disabilities. In addition to describing how inclusion practices at LHS were implemented, participants shared what they believed were the benefits of including students with disabilities in general education classroom settings.

Perceived Benefits of Inclusion Practices for Disabled Students at LHS

All participants spoke of the importance of including students with disabilities in general education classroom settings at LHS. Along with any supports they may need to be successful in those environments, administrators, teachers, and paraeducators believed services for students with disabilities in general education classroom settings provided them with numerous benefits. These included being educated to the least restrictive environment alongside their typically developing peers, access to the general education curriculum and the same instruction as their non-disabled peers, and an opportunity for increased social interactions with their typically developing peers. Ultimately for participants, inclusion practices led to more rigorous educational opportunities and outcomes, as well as increased acceptance for students with disabilities. Three themes emerged as the participants described the benefits of inclusion practices for student with disabilities at LHS. The themes were the opportunity to be educated in the least restrictive environment, access to rigorous curriculum taught by highly qualified content teachers, and a sense of belonging.

Least restrictive environment. Administrator, general and special education teachers, and SPED paraeducator participants believed providing special education services in regular education classroom settings afforded an opportunity for students with disabilities to learn alongside their typically developing peers in the least restrictive environment (LRE). An administrator explained, "We want to make sure that they [students with disabilities] are in the

least restrictive environment...and are able to experience those educational experiences that are most appropriate for them." In addition, exposure to those educational experiences was viewed as an opportunity for students with disabilities to reach their potential, as a SPED paraeducator shared, "I remember them talking about best practice, and the younger and the sooner kids are with their age peers, the better they do. So, it helps them to grow to their potential." For participants, inclusion as the preferred form of LRE provided an opportunity for students with disabilities to learn from their non-disabled peers, grow to their potential, and to observe what other students were doing and learning.

As noted previously, a main reason for implementing inclusion practices at LHS was to eliminate distinctions between groups of students and bring everyone together. Therefore, it was not surprising that participants did not want to see students with disabilities segregated from their non-disabled peers. They also believed inclusion resulted in higher quality of education and opportunities for modeling and mentoring. For example, a general education teacher offered, "I think when you segregate students, I don't know, I can't think of the word, but it seems like if they are included they get a different level of education." She went on to explain, "I also think that they get a lot from being with the regular students, in the sense that they can see how they [regular education students] learn...and participate with all different levels of students." Overall, participants thought segregating students with disabilities limited their access to their non-disabled peers as well as limited access to more rigorous educational opportunities and outcomes.

Access to rigorous curriculum. For administrator and teacher participants, providing educational rigor for students with disabilities at LHS was an important benefit of implementing inclusion practices. Challenging students, setting high expectations, and providing the same curriculum as their non-disabled peers have assisted in accomplishing more rigorous educational

opportunities for students with disabilities at LHS. The desire to expose students with disabilities to more rigorous educational opportunities evolved through the school's commitment to inclusive practices, as a special education teacher shared, "I feel like the push really came with our higher level kids, our high incidence kids, it came with wanting to really increase rigor."

Thus, there was an expectation that students with disabilities at LHS will work to achieve the same academic standards as their regular education peers. To illustrate, an administrator stated:

In general education settings students [with disabilities] can achieve right alongside other students... You think about expectations of students with disabilities, that they can do hard things and they're going to be required to do hard things in life and that's what we work towards at the high school.

Several participants agreed students with disabilities could achieve the same educational outcomes as their non-disabled peers when given the appropriate services and supports in the general education classroom settings. As a general education teacher described, "In my class the goal is...with accommodations they [students with disabilities] are at the same level as their classmates...and that we have things in place to support them." Some students with disabilities at LHS are included in higher-level honors classes. This led a special education teacher to explain the importance of having the appropriate services and supports in place for these students:

For their own enrichment...I personally have students who are wanting to be honor's scholars, who are taking higher level classes that they might not be able to access if they did not have support either indirect from us [special education teachers] collaborating with the general education teachers or a paraeducator helping them access the content.

Without the appropriate inclusion services and supports provided at LHS, both the general education and special education teacher participants believed many of their students with disabilities would be unable to access the more rigorous and higher-level classes and coursework. In addition, including students with disabilities in general education classroom settings was perceived by participants as an opportunity for students with disabilities to experience more rigorous levels of teaching and learning. Another special education teacher explained:

They [students with disabilities] get the benefits from the general education students, of the more rigorous questions that they ask, the more in-depth that they go in those classes...and the peer support from the general education students they don't get in the special education classroom.

Administrators and special and general education teacher participants agreed expectations for students with disabilities were no different than the expectations they have for the regular education students. As a general education teacher offered, "I definitely am not like, 'Oh, they're on an IEP and I'm going to have to lower expectations for them in my classroom." Expressing this same sentiment another general education teacher explained, "The expectations are the same, how they [students with disabilities] get there may be different." For administrator and teacher participants rigor was also accomplished by having highly qualified core content teachers teaching the subject matter.

Administrator and teacher participants believed having highly qualified core content teachers instructing students with disabilities was an important component in providing more rigorous educational opportunities for students. As a special education teacher explained:

The belief from the top down in our building that if you want to teach math...that's where we need to have those [teachers] who are specialists in math to really be there to

instruct those students [with disabilities] so that they get the instruction from the teachers who have the specialized training.

Participants agreed that in order to provide more rigorous opportunities and outcomes, students with disabilities should be given the opportunity to learn from those teachers who have the knowledge, training, and expertise in the content area being taught. In addition to providing access to the general education classrooms, curriculum, and rigor, participants expressed the need for students with disabilities to feel accepted, developing empathy in others, and an opportunity for increased social interactions with non-disabled peers.

Sense of belonging. For participants, developing a sense of belonging started with accepting individual differences and the positive contributions all students bring to the school and classroom. As an example, a general education teacher shared:

First of all, I think, they need to feel like they're part of the school. I mean that's the most important thing. They belong. They're not outcast. I think that's so important that they have ownership to some part of the school and I think Lakeview does a pretty amazing job of including them in those things.

Participants agreed that having students with disabilities in the general education classroom settings provided a valuable perspective for all as to how differences can enhance the learning process. To illustrate an administrator offered how inclusion practices brought, "value to the regular education teachers and regular education students in understanding that there are variances in abilities and variances in skills and that those students [with disabilities] can provide some valuable perspective to the learning process." The administrator went on to acknowledge the consequences of sorting and classifying students according to perceived ability, "when we overly stratify we create homogeneous groups that lack those perspectives." Participants

conveyed the importance of students being accepted and creating a sense of belonging through valuing the different perspectives, abilities, and skills all students bring to the classroom.

The opportunity for increased social interactions was also perceived by participants as benefiting both general education students and students with disabilities. As an example a SPED paraeducator offered:

I think that having them [students with disabilities] with general education in inclusion

classes, it keeps them from being isolated and it is a peer thing where they have to interact with a bunch of different students...in resource classes [special education classrooms] they always have the same people and they never know or meet new friends. In addition to having an opportunity for a variety of social interactions, a general education teacher noted, "Most classes have group work that they do together. They get to work with all different levels of students...in turn this helps regular education students have more empathy and understanding of other students." Overall participants not only believed students with disabilities benefited educationally and socially from being in inclusion general education classroom settings, they also saw the benefits it provided for all students and staff.

Role Expectations for the Implementation of Inclusion Practices

Successful implementation of inclusion is often rooted in how those responsible for such practices perceive and interpret their roles and responsibilities. Having a clear understanding of what those involved are expected to do is critical to providing for the needs of students with disabilities in inclusion settings. Participant groups, which included district and building administrators, special and general education teachers, and SPED paraeducators provided insight into what responsibilities they and others have in supporting inclusion practices at LHS.

Expectations for Administrators

Establishing a culture of inclusion often falls on the shoulders of district and school administrators. An administrator's ability to convey a vision for inclusion is important.

Administrators are frequently expected to ensure systems are in place for successful inclusion practices as well as to oversee that policies, regulations, and guidelines are followed (Boscardin, 2005; Theoharis & Causton, 2014). From the interviews, three themes emerged as participants described what they believed were the expectations for LHS administrators in supporting students with disabilities in inclusion settings. Themes were oversight and support for special education services, having a vision for inclusive practices, and accountability.

Oversight and support for special education services. All administrator participants generally felt their roles and responsibilities were to provide support, oversight, and guidance for inclusive practices at LHS. As an administrator offered:

It's our responsibility to make sure that the teachers are following the students' IEPs, that the paraeducators are being used appropriately, that we've trained both the teachers and the paraeducators on how inclusive education should look... Ultimately it's our responsibility to provide training, to create the system in which that can take place and then...to follow through to ensure that that's what's happening.

Several participants referenced the need for administrators to ensure staff are appropriately trained. To illustrate, a paraeducator explained, "It would be their responsibility to make sure that there is adequate training available for those who work directly with special education students." Although others are responsible for providing the direct inclusion services and supports, ultimately all participants believed the responsibility lies with administrators to ensure effective practices are in place.

"Incredibly supportive" is how special education teacher participants described the administrators at the school. Several participants described how LHS administrators supported inclusion. A special education teacher explained, "If you go talk to any of our administrators and you're having an issue, they're going to help you work with that person to figure out a solution." Besides being accessible to staff when issues arose, participants described how administrators also assisted in the management of class size ratios so the inclusion classes were not a majority of students with disabilities with a few regular education students mixed in. For example, a special education teacher stated she depended on the administrators to make "sure that ratio in those inclusion classes meets what's best for kids. Because I've sat in classrooms where three fourths of the kids were special education with the rest regular education and it didn't make sense. That's not really inclusion." A general education teacher participant also spoke to the importance of maintaining an appropriate class size ratio, "I've worked in other districts where more than half the students in inclusion were students with disabilities. Here administration definitely works to keep that below 40%." In order for students with disabilities to benefit from learning alongside their non-disabled peers, participants believed the administrators' role in maintaining an appropriate class size ratio was an essential component to the success of students with disabilities in general classroom settings. Along with providing oversight and support for inclusive practices, the administrators' ability to provide a vision for inclusion was seen as important.

Vision for inclusive practices. All participants recognized administrators play a key role in facilitating inclusion practices and without their support much of what was happening at LHS would not be possible. None of the general and special education teachers and paraeducators interviewed were aware of any specific formal or written expectations for administrators; several

did mention the importance of establishing a vision and culture for inclusion. To illustrate, a general education teacher shared, "I'm very impressed with the tone set in this building for accepting and including." Another teacher explained how administrators at the school have established a culture of acceptance, "Everybody has a chance to learn. We accept who they are. We have to accept them and we treat them right." Another teacher further verified this sentiment, "They expect everybody to be treated the same... That goes for all levels of education including special education." Several of the other participants also expressed how the administrators' ability to establish an inclusive culture has benefited both students and staff at the school.

Accountability. Administrators' roles and responsibilities went beyond providing oversight for inclusive practices to being accountable for the implementation of inclusion services at LHS. General and special education teachers described the importance of the administrators' presence at IEP meetings and the support they provide. A general education teacher offered, "I've never been to a meeting [IEP] where an administrator hasn't been present." General education teacher participants believed the administrators' presence at IEP meetings not only allowed them to be part of the conversation and to provide input, it also conveyed a message that this process was important, that this student was important.

Accountability, which includes understanding and implementing the policies, regulations, and guidelines for the provision of special education services are important aspects of the administrators' responsibilities. Although none of the administrators or teachers interviewed specifically mentioned the oversight of policies, regulations, and guidelines, a SPED paraeducator offered what she believed an accountability expectation for administrators should be, "making sure compliance or things along that nature are met." While administrators held themselves accountable through ensuring compliance with policies, regulations, and guidelines,

several teachers expressed frustration regarding their administrators' lack of accountability for general education teachers charged with implementing inclusion.

General and special education teachers alike expressed frustration and concern that administrators were not holding all general education teachers accountable. They believed administrators needed to do more to ensure these teachers were supporting students with disabilities in their classrooms. As a general education teacher noted, "There's definitely not a high level of accountability." Another teacher expressed the same concern, "I don't think we're held accountable enough," when he referenced how some general education teachers were not supporting the needs of students with disabilities in their classrooms. In addition, these teachers were concerned about the poor attendance of some general education teachers at IEP meetings. For example, a general education teacher explained, "I think they [administrators] need to do more to tell teachers this is the law. Administrators don't miss those meetings and they know who comes to them and who doesn't." This same concern was further verified when an administrator shared, "We have those [general education teachers] that are conveniently busy with many other things. Can't make an IEP [meeting]. It varies from teacher to teacher, unfortunately." Special education regulations require at least one general education teacher attend an IEP meeting, and these participants and several others stressed the importance of being at those meetings. General education teachers expressed frustration with the lack of general education teacher attendance and participation at IEP meetings and felt administrators needed to do more to ensure their attendance and participation. They believed general education teachers needed to be involved as they oftentimes have information to share regarding how the student was doing in their classes, if accommodations were appropriate or not, and helping to determine what services were needed.

Expectations for General Education Teachers

The success of students with disabilities in inclusion general education classroom settings is often contingent on how general education teachers view their responsibilities in supporting the needs of students and guiding the work of the paraeducators assigned to their classrooms. According to the district's job description for high school general education teachers, a performance expectation is to, plan a program of study that, as much as possible, meets the individual needs, interests, and abilities of the students. Participants believed general education teachers are the experts in the content area they teach. Participants also believed general education teachers have a responsibility to differentiate instruction as well as to appropriately utilize paraeducators to support IEP needs. As an administrator explained, "We have some [general education] teachers who absolutely embrace their responsibility and do a phenomenal job with working with our special education students, paraeducators, and special education teachers and being part of the teams and attending IEPs." From the interviews, three themes emerged as participants described what they believed were the expectations for general education teachers in supporting students with disabilities and working with paraeducators. The themes were know the IEP, communication to facilitate collaboration, and connecting with students and paraeducators. In order to support the individual needs of students with disabilities in inclusion classroom settings, all of the participant groups spoke to the importance of the Individual Education Program (IEP).

Know the IEP. When planning for the individual needs of students, IEPs were seen by all of the general education teacher participants as the primary mechanism by which they know and provide for the students with disabilities in their classrooms. As one general education teacher asserted, "Know the IEPs…that's the number one thing." Another general education

teacher also shared, "I think we have the responsibility to know what accommodations are needed, to have at least a little bit of background understanding of what their deficiencies might be and how we can help them overcome that in our setting." A general education teacher shared how he organizes the IEP information in order to manage what each of his students with disabilities requires. He explained, "When I get all of my IEPs, I have a spreadsheet where I mark all of the different exceptionalities and accommodations that are required." Because all general education teacher participants expressed the need to know the students' IEPs, they and others also referenced "snapshot" IEPs, which were provided to general education teachers and SPED paraeducators each semester. Participants found snapshot IEPs very helpful as they provided an IEP at a glance. Snapshot IEPs are not unique to LHS as many online/computerized IEP programs offer a snapshot or an at-a-glance component.

The snapshot IEP is a condensed version of the IEP. It highlights what each student with disabilities requires, what accommodations are needed, and whether a student needs to be taught in a different manner. Special education teachers at LHS are responsible for providing the snapshot IEP to general education teachers and paraeducators. A special education teacher shared a purpose of the snapshot IEP was to ensure general education teachers "follow what they legally have to do." Stressing the importance of knowing the needs of each individual student and how general education teachers access information, an administrator offered her thoughts on what the expectations are for general education teachers:

Getting to know the students and what are their needs and being familiar with what is on the IEP. Being familiar with who is the case manager. Who do I go to with questions and then how do I support this kid the best? The importance of general education teachers knowing the needs of the students with disabilities assigned to their classrooms was further verified when a paraeducator explained, "Their responsibility is to make sure they understand the needs, what each individual child needs and we help them do that." It was clear from all interviews a primary responsibility for general education teachers was to understand the individual needs for each student with disabilities assigned to their classrooms. At LHS this was accomplished by providing general education teachers access to the IEP. In addition, participants discussed the importance of communicating and collaborating with special education staff.

Communication to facilitate collaboration. In order for general education teacher and SPED paraeducator teams to be successful, all participants agreed that ongoing communication and collaboration were essential. General education teacher participants believed they had a responsibility to ensure they communicated their expectations with the paraeducators assigned to their classrooms. As an example, a general education teacher explained, "We have a responsibility to make sure our paraeducators are involved and understand what their role is." An administrator similarly conveyed, "communicating their expectation with paraeducators" was important for the success of general education teacher and paraeducator teams and their work together in supporting students with disabilities in inclusion classroom settings.

At the beginning of each school year SPED paraeducators and general education teachers are given time to communicate and collaborate on classroom expectations. A paraeducator and teacher checklist is provided for this purpose. The checklist outlines points of discussion for teachers and paraeducators regarding personal/school related information, student information, and classroom schedules and procedures. Several participants referenced this document and the purpose of its use. For example, one special education teacher shared:

At the beginning of the year...paras will walk around from teacher to teacher with the questions, what do you expect from me? Where do you want me to sit? It's a time and an opportunity for regular education teachers to say, okay, this is really important to me, please make sure you always do this or don't do this.

There was an expectation on the part of school administration and special education teachers that these discussions occur even if a general education teacher and paraeducator have worked together previously. Another special education teacher explained:

Paras are to do this yearly... Because it's not every year they're going to be with the same teachers and who knows maybe that teacher [they worked with previously] over the summer had an epiphany and they change the way they do their teaching and so the paras need to check with them.

Paraeducator participants also saw the benefits of this process. As one paraeducator offered, "It's nice because those type of things help you know what your teacher's expectation is because they don't necessarily get a copy of that handbook [procedure guide] of what the district expects us to do." Other general education teacher participants mentioned this process as well and the benefits it provided in establishing a positive relationship with the paraeducators assigned to their classrooms and the opportunity it provided to discuss their expectations. In addition to ongoing communication, participants believed collaboration was an important component to supporting students with disabilities and the work of teacher and paraeducator teams.

For participants, effective collaboration occurred when general education teachers and paraeducators were given the opportunity to work as a team. To illustrate, a special education teacher related the importance of teamwork, "Team spirit. I think it's probably key. If it's always my way and my way is the only way then it's not going to work." She went on to explain the

importance of collaboration and having shared responsibility, "The more of us that have our thinking caps on for different activities the better it is." Several of the general education teacher participants discussed the value of having a paraeducator in their classroom and the opportunities they had to collaborate. For example, one general education teacher shared her experience in working with the paraeducator assigned to her classroom, "I'm pretty blessed because I have the same para for my English classes and she and I have a system that works." Another teacher also explained how he often collaborates with his paraeducator when he recognizes that some students are struggling.

I know she's not a math teacher but I'll be like, "Have you seen this a different way in different classrooms and if so, then let's go ahead." And I've let her show the kids on the board because what I'm doing, they're not really catching on.

Even though participants recognized the value of ongoing communication and collaboration between general education teachers and paraeducators, lack of time was seen as a big obstacle.

As one general education teacher described:

What's difficult is the time for communication because the paras go from class to class. So, they don't get to hang around and visit with the teachers. So, there's not a lot of time during the school year itself for them to really talk about the students.

For participants, class schedules and paraeducator assignments oftentimes prohibited the general education teachers' and paraeducators' ability to communicate and collaborate on an ongoing basis throughout the school year. In addition to communicating and collaborating, building relationships with students and paraeducators was seen as an important expectation for general education teachers.

Connecting with students and paraeducators. Connecting and building relationships

with students was a primary focus at LHS. The school participates in a national program called *Capturing Kids Hearts*, which emphasizes the development of a positive school climate and culture. Components of the program include such things as connecting relationally, use of common language, common practices, and consistent behavior. According to the program's website, "Educators learn the process of connecting with kids by consistently treating each one as valuable" (Flippen Group, 2018).

In keeping with the spirit of Capturing Kids Hearts, participants conveyed the importance of building relationships with student with disabilities. For example, this general education teacher explained, "If you can get that relationship built, then you can push them past a lot of their walls or barriers... Once that relationship is established it's a lot easier." In an attempt to build positive relationships with students, all staff members have been trained in the use of common language for redirecting students as well as a routine for how they begin each class period.

When students are off task, the common language used at the school for redirecting students included, What are you doing? What are you supposed to be doing? Are you doing it? What are you going to do now? During the classroom observations the common language for redirecting students was posted in two of the five classrooms. Although there were multiple opportunities to utilize the common language during the classroom observations, none of the teachers or paraeducators were observed using it.

In addition, as part of the Capturing Kids Hearts program, during all classroom observations and prior to beginning the lesson for the day, each teacher asked the students if anyone had "good news" or "good things" they wanted to share. In each class there were approximately three to five students who had something positive to share. Although the

responses varied from "I made the track team" to "my uncle will be getting out of prison tomorrow," this nonjudgmental practice further demonstrated the school's and the participants efforts to connect relationally with all students.

Besides getting to know the students and their needs, equally important for general education teachers was building a positive relationship with the paraeducator/s assigned to their classrooms. As a general education teacher shared, "Relationship is important. Just like you get to know your kids, you've got to get to know your paras." Another general education teacher also expressed the importance of building a relationship with the paraeducators and how that relationship can impact students:

I've had some good ones [paraeducators] but I've had a few bad ones but it's not the relationship with the students, it's the relationship the teacher has with the para. And the students can feel if it's not a good one [relationship].

All participants saw building a positive relationship and creating a positive work environment as key components for the work of teacher and paraeducator teams in supporting the needs of students with disabilities in inclusion classroom settings.

Expectations for Special Education Teachers

"They're the advocates for the students," was how administrators, general education teachers, and paraeducators described one of the expectations of special education teachers at LHS. Most special education teachers at the school indirectly support the needs of students with disabilities in inclusion settings. Nonetheless, special education teachers were seen as the individuals with the most knowledge regarding the needs of those students. One general education teacher suggested, "They [special education teachers] are very aware of like nuances with the students." In addition, for all participants an important expectation for special education

teachers was to ensure services and supports were in place to meet the needs of students. As an example, one paraeducator offered, "They're the ones that are going to make sure that they [students with disabilities] get the extra time...read alouds or graphic organizers, whatever that particular student needs." For participants, understanding the individual needs of the students on their caseloads and ensuring that the students' needs were being met in the inclusion setting, were viewed as essential expectations for special education teachers at LHS.

As case managers for students with disabilities, special education teachers at LHS were expected to monitor student progress, communicate and work collaboratively with other staff members, and ensure that services and support are provided appropriately. To illustrate, a special education teacher shared what she believed were some of their responsibilities as special education teachers, "Our responsibility is to make sure the IEP is being followed. To meet with teachers and if there are questions and help provide strategies...and to help paras with those strategies." An administrator further verified this when she offered, "Communication. That proactive information about the student is essential and problem solving whenever needs arise." The district's job description for special education teachers outlined their performance responsibilities. Although most of the responsibilities referenced expectations as to how special education teachers were to support students with disabilities in special education classrooms, some of the expectations included how they will work collaboratively with others. They included, assist the administration in implementing policies and rules governing students; plans and supervises purposeful assignments for paraprofessionals; and works cooperatively with staff on various tasks and/or assignments.

Working cooperatively with staff was seen as another important expectation for special education teachers. Administrators spoke to the importance of collaboration among special and

general education teachers. As one administrator shared, "They visit with each of the general education teachers and review the snapshot [IEP] and make sure if they have any questions, that the questions are answered." Another administrator remarked, "Their [special education teachers] responsibility is to work with the regular education teachers to come up with what's best for the students." Although it was the perception and belief that special and general education teachers worked cooperatively, several general education teacher participants mentioned that support provided by some of the special education teachers at LHS was sometimes inconsistent.

Inconsistent support from special education teachers. Lack of consistency from some of the special education teachers in monitoring the students on their caseloads as well as poor communication with the general education teachers were concerns expressed by general education teacher participants. As one general education teacher shared, "I've had some that weren't as diligent about checking on all their caseload." Another general education teacher offered, "There's a particular case manager that I have to hassle pretty regularly." All of the general education teachers understood the basic responsibilities special education teachers have and how demanding their jobs can be. Even with that, general education teacher participants felt not all of the special education teachers at the LHS were as responsive as they should be when issues arise.

Another expectation for special education teachers was to schedule IEP meetings. All of the general education teacher participants saw the importance of attending IEP meetings but some had concerns as to when the meetings were scheduled and the lack of attendance on the part of some the general education teachers at LHS. As one general education teacher related:

There are some case managers who will reschedule IEPs a couple of different times to make sure it works for as many people as possible and there are some who will set it [IEP meeting] in the middle of the day when 90% of the teachers are unable to attend.

General education teacher participants saw their involvement at IEP meetings as important. A general education teacher conveyed why he thought it was important for them to be present at IEP meetings, "I just know personally, I want to go to the IEPs because I know the value of being there. For me a lot of times it's hearing what other teachers and case managers have to say about the student." Another teacher conveyed the same sentiment regarding participation in IEP meetings:

First of all, I'm like one of the only teachers that show up to the IEP meetings. So, I feel like they [special education teachers] probably could be doing a better job of recruiting or telling teachers, "Hey, you need to be here, to be here for the full time."

Although all of the general education teacher participants desired to attend the IEP meetings for the students assigned to their classrooms, they did express concerns as to when those meetings were scheduled and their inability to be involved at times.

Expectations for SPED Paraeducators

The importance of paraeducators in supporting the needs of students with disabilities in general education classroom settings was repeatedly mentioned throughout all interviews.

Paraeducators play a key role in supporting inclusive practices, as a special education teacher conveyed, "We couldn't do what we do without them. They do the lion's share of the work."

Paraeducators likewise felt they played an important role in supporting students with disabilities in general education classroom settings. To illustrate, one paraeducator related what some of the expectations are for them as SPED paraeducators.

It's assisting them [students with disabilities] in learning where their weaknesses are and how to adapt to them in the general education situation... It's just that element of reassurance that they have somebody that they can ask clarifying questions to or can restate something in a different way.

This was further verified by a general education teacher who shared, "Paraeducators connect students with the classroom context in a way that builds a student's confidence to become a more achieving student." In order to connect students with the content being taught and to provide the necessary supports for students with disabilities in general classroom settings, all participants referenced the need for paraeducators to understand the individual needs of the students. "The way I see it, they're an extension of the special education teacher in that classroom and they are responsible for carrying out what the IEP explains," was how one administrator related an expectation for paraeducators in inclusion classroom settings. Another administrator also verified the importance of the paraeducator understanding the individual needs of students and being knowledgeable of the IEP. "Definitely understanding the IEP... including accommodations and modifications." A general education teacher explained, "The biggest responsibility they have is knowing what's in the IEP and being able to follow through on that" which conveyed this same essential function for paraeducators working in inclusion classroom settings. From the interviews, it was evident that all participants expected paraeducators to be responsible for knowing the individual needs of the students they served, understanding what accommodations and/or modifications were needed, and being able to provide the necessary services and supports.

During the interviews participants described other aspects of the paraeducators' roles and responsibilities that were not explicitly outlined in the paraeducators' job description. Three

themes emerged through those discussions. The themes included building positive relationships with students, encouraging independence, and dealing with curveballs.

Relationships with students. For paraeducators and general education teachers alike building positive relationships with students was seen as an important first step to ensuring students' success in inclusion settings. As one paraeducator shared:

For some of these kids you can definitely tell that you're the only positive adult influence in and outside of school. They'll come to you with everything under the sun. And it's just because you're the one adult support they have consistently Monday through Friday.

As the primary and consistent school staff to interact with students with disabilities, the importance of a personal and trusting relationship cannot be underestimated. Another paraeducator reiterated the same sentiment:

A lot of times we have the relationship with the kids that our special and general teachers don't because they have 200 kids. So, we usually have a relationship, where we trust each other, and they will tell us stuff that they wouldn't tell their teacher.

General education teacher participants also discussed the importance of building positive relationships with all students as a general education teacher described, "The best ones [paraeducators] work the room kind of like I work the room...and talking to every student and identifying how they can help them [students] and building relationships with all the kids."

In order to build positive relationships with students several of paraeducators suggested they provided other, non-academic supports. They mentioned providing snacks or food for students because some of the students they worked with were often hungry. One paraeducator remarked, "A lot of times they're hungry and I always have fruit." Paraeducators believed they were often expected to go above and beyond. To illustrate, another paraeducator shared:

I can't tell you how many paras carry around food in our backpacks to make sure our kids are fed. We'll go on walks [with the student] if kids are bawling their eyes out. That's not in the rules but that's what we do to make sure our kids get the proper education because they don't learn until they feel comfortable.

While general education teachers and administrators described more job-specific expectations for paraeducators, paraeducators felt they were not only expected to support the students academically and socially but to also support the overall wellbeing of the students they served.

Encouraging independence. Although some SPED paraeducators feared they could become a crutch for students, several of them acknowledged the importance of instilling independence in the students they served. One paraeducator described how her role was teaching students to be independent learners:

I think that a goal to have them [students with disabilities] in the classroom, have us in the classroom with them, is to train them to not need us...because at some point they're going to graduate and they're not going to have us...because at some point they are going to have to be completely independent.

Another paraeducator talked about how she has worked to develop independence when some of the students she supports were reluctant to ask the teacher for help:

I have so many kids that I've had for two or three years who still come up to me and say, "Hey, can you ask the teacher?" And I'm like; "I will stand at the door while you do it." I think it's important to teach them that I can support you and not do it for you.

Even though the paraeducators saw the importance of instilling independence, several general education teacher participants expressed concerns regarding the amount of support some

paraeducators provided. They felt some paraeducators provided too much support, thus, leading to dependence rather than independence. For example, one general education teacher shared:

Some paras think they have to do everything for the student... They feel bad for the kids and they want to be liked instead of teaching them. I don't want them [students with disabilities] to be spoon-fed but I want them to get the help they need. Some [paraeducators] come in here and do way too much.

Another general education teacher also expressed the same concern, citing her suspicion that some paraeducators even prompted students during testing:

There are a couple paras, because how can they [students with disabilities] have a 55 or 60 [percent] going into the test and then all of a sudden they have a 98 [percent] on the test. Paras shouldn't allude to what the answer should be and I think that that's happened. Paraeducator integrity has been questioned from time to time at the school. One administrator related, "I think we have had a couple of instances where that really was called into question.

And we have had a concern with that and really there's probably been two significant concerns with that and one was validated." In order to help minimize this, the school provides test read aloud/integrity training for staff, including paraeducators. Although, there were concerns with some of the paraeducator practices, all participants saw the value and need for paraeducator support for students with disabilities in general education classroom settings.

Thrown a curveball. Although the district and school outlines essential job functions for SPED paraeducators, several of the paraeducators interviewed referenced times when they were asked to perform duties outside of those job expectations. One paraeducator explained he had been asked several times to step outside of his job description, "I think, four instances in the last school year, where I've had to step up... 'Hey you're gonna teach geometry in about 10 minutes,

can you do it?' Coming in to be a para, I didn't expect to do that." Other paraeducators also suggested when teachers were absent; substitute teachers often asked them to lead the class. One paraeducator shared:

I mean we all know that if the teacher is going to be gone...you know they'll ask, "Hey, do you mind leading the discussion?" Or they'll pretty much leave us in that place because we know the kids more than any sub.

Another paraeducator further verified this practice when she explained, "I have a problem with substitutes. Substitutes see you walk in and they're like 'well, she knows what she's doing' and they'll just sit there and they won't do anything." In these situations, the substitute teachers expected the paraeducator to lead the class.

General education teachers also shared their concerns regarding what some paraeducators were being asked to do in some classrooms. In one example, a general education teacher suggested paraeducators were sometimes asked to assume the leadership role in the classroom:

Some teachers go beyond the scope of what they should be asking their para to do...I know teachers that leave the room to the para at times. I know this because I have paras who've told me this happens...and I told the paras, "Do not allow that because that's not your responsibility."

For general education teachers this raised concerns regarding the liability that these types of practices placed on paraeducators. Although it was a concern for teachers, none of the paraeducators interviewed indicated they felt uncomfortable assuming the leadership role in the classroom when they were asked to do so.

Resources and Barriers for the Work of Teacher and SPED Paraeducator Teams

This section presents an analysis of participants' views regarding the available resources the district and school provided to support the work of teacher and SPED paraeducator teams.

They also shared their perceptions and beliefs about some of the barriers they believed impeded the collaborative work of teacher and paraeducator teams.

All participants spoke to the multiple resources provided by the district and school to potentially ensure the success of their inclusive practices. Some of those resources included documents such as job descriptions and procedure/resource guides for special education teachers and paraeducators as well as opportunities to communicate and collaborate. In addition, training and professional learning, orientation, and mentoring were discussed. As documents often serve as tools for guiding the work of teachers and paraeducators, for participants their availability was important.

Resources: Documents and Tools

Several documents are provided to teacher and paraeducator staff to assist them in supporting the needs of students with disabilities at LHS. An administrator explained some of the documents available for general education teachers and paraeducators, "We provide a paraeducator resource guide and they have several resource forms that we provide them [paraeducators] that help assist in those conversations with the general education teachers." A general education teacher also referenced the availability of these documents, "The documents that they give out now are super helpful. That say, 'Here's how you can use your para. Here's some things that they can do." Several years ago, the district's special education department developed a *Special Education Certified Procedure Guide* and a *LPS Para Procedure Guide* along with guiding documents that have assisted special and general education staff in

understanding such things as processes, procedures, and expectations. More recently, the instructional coach at LHS developed a *Paraeducator Resource Guide*. The *Paraeducator Resource Guide* was developed to provide an easy, handy reference for the paraeducators at the school. Paraeducators referenced the resource/procedure guides. One paraeducator shared the guides were, "Basic expectations because what we do is as individualized as our kids." Some of those basic expectations for paraeducators included in the guides were such things as dress code, confidentiality, school and district procedures, and how they will be evaluated. In addition, the guides provide information with regard to working in the general education classroom, training and feedback, ideas for possible reading and math strategies, and a list of potential accommodations and modifications. Additional documents available to support the work of teacher and paraeducator teams included job descriptions, a paraeducator and teacher expectation checklist, and as reported previously, IEPs.

Paraeducators also have a document for recording the students' accommodations as well as a document that outlines possible paraeducator functions during the lesson progression. This latter document provides guidance to paraeducators when certain activities are occurring in the classroom. As an example, *If the teacher is lecturing to the class, the paraeducator can model note taking on the board or overhead or complete a graphic organizer for student use.* Although none of the participants referenced the specific expectations outlined in the job descriptions, the district does provide job descriptions for high school teachers, special education teachers, and SPED paraeducators. The job description for general and special education teachers outlines performance responsibilities while the job description for SPED paraeducators outlines the essential functions of their job. All participants in this study viewed the collaborative work of the general education teacher and SPED paraeducator partnerships in inclusion settings at LHS

as positive and beneficial, during the discussions, multiple themes emerged that focused on some of the barriers that existed and limited the work of general education teacher and paraeducator teams.

Lack of Access to Technology and Curriculum

Paraeducator participants expressed concerns with the school's inability to provide consistent access to technology as well as sufficient access to curriculum. To illustrate, a paraeducator explained, "We're not even given laptops to use. So, if you want to do anything, you can do it on your own time at home. We don't have any time to do it here." For paraeducator participants, lack of consistent access to technology at the LHS was perceived as a barrier for them to appropriately perform their duties.

In addition, the paraeducators discussed the challenges they had when they were not given sufficient time and opportunity to learn curriculum. As one paraeducator described:

We don't have a plan period. Almost every one of us here has had to learn content on their own time in order to help. Because when I came I didn't know, I was a science geek and that's where I was put. I do chemistry now and I learn along with the kids.

General education teachers also expressed concerns with some of the paraeducators' lack of content knowledge. As one general education teacher acknowledged, "Many of them [paraeducators] have issues with our content." In an effort to minimize the lack of content knowledge on the part of paraeducators, the school has attempted, when possible, to assign paraeducators to general education classrooms based on their strengths. To illustrate, a special education teacher explained, "I know if para B can't do math, I don't put her in any math classes." Another special education teacher further affirmed their efforts to assign paraeducators where they can be successful, "I think we really do care that they're happy and comfortable where

they're working." Although the school has made efforts to assign paraeducators to content areas they feel most comfortable with, it was not always possible.

Paraeducators also expressed frustration with the fact they received no training when there was a new curriculum adoption. For example, one expressed, "There's no training as far as if there's a new curriculum... All the teachers get to go, but we have nothing. We are essentially just another student in that classroom in that situation." For paraeducators, the lack of access and training related to the curriculum impeded their ability, at times, to appropriately support the needs of the student they served in the general education classroom settings.

Lack of Communication and Collaboration

All participants saw the value of ongoing communication and collaboration among general education teachers and paraeducators as critical elements for the success of their work together. An administrator shared the benefits of having a strong general education teacher and SPED paraeducator partnership, "The benefits are that those teachers have somebody that they can really rely on to help those students that struggle and when we have paras in those classrooms... that's a benefit for those teachers and they recognize that." For general education teacher and paraeducator participants, the success of their partnership was built on having open and ongoing communication and collaboration. Although all participants in this study understood the importance of strong teacher and paraeducator partnerships, they also identified a number of barriers related to communication and collaboration that have hindered those partnerships.

As previously reported, each school year paraeducators and teachers are required to document their discussions regarding expectations. Although this was required, it did not guarantee ongoing communication and collaboration between all general education teacher and

SPED paraeducator teams. Paraeducator participants shared the struggles they have had with some of the general education teachers they were assigned to work with, as one paraeducator noted, "In some of my classes the communication is basically nonexistent and so...it just makes my role in the class, kind of awkward." Another paraeducator described the unwelcoming atmosphere in one of the classrooms she was assigned to and her inability to effectively communicate and collaborate with the teacher:

I have been in a classroom where I walked to the door and said, "Hi, I'm"...and the teacher looked me in the eye and said, "I don't know what you're doing here. You can sit in that corner over there and I'll tell you when I need you."

The lack of willingness on the part of some teachers to develop a collaborative partnership with paraeducators was further verified when a general education teacher offered:

Some [general education] teachers don't even acknowledge paras. Don't want them in their room. I think it's important that you have a good relationship with your paras because there are some teachers here, they don't even want their paras to show up because they don't want them in their classroom.

This negative attitude some teachers had toward paraeducators was shared by several other paraeducator participants, which made it difficult in some instances to communicate and build a collaborative partnership with the general education teachers they were assigned to work with.

Paraeducators, however, felt these types of situations have improved over the past few years, even suggesting that younger teachers seem to be more accepting of students with disabilities and having a paraeducator assigned to their classrooms. For example, one paraeducator explained, "My older teachers really don't know what to do with a paraeducator. They put the special education kids as close to me as they can and they don't have anything to do

with them." She went on to explain why she thought some teachers were more willing to collaborate with the paraeducators assigned to their classrooms, "I think it's a lot in the age of the teachers. The younger teachers I think they work with them in school, in their courses, where they seem to interact better with me and with the special education students." Although this was the perception of several of the other paraeducator participants, the majority of the general education teacher participants in the study, regardless of age, indicated they had not received any preparation for working with paraeducators prior to beginning their teaching careers. In addition to the lack of communication and collaboration, lack of acceptance for students with disabilities and paraeducators as well as the lack of accountability on the part of some general education teachers were discussed.

Lack of Acceptance and Accountability

Participants believed successful inclusion classroom settings begin with recognizing individual differences as well as creating an environment of acceptance. Although all of the general education teacher participants understood they were responsible and accountable for supporting students with disabilities and guiding the work of the paraeducators assigned to their classrooms, they believed not all teachers at LHS were as accepting. To illustrate, one general education teacher shared, "I don't know if it's a natural thing for most [general education] teachers to walk in and be excited about working in inclusion classrooms." All participant groups expressed the lack of comfort in supporting the needs of students with disabilities as a concern with some of the general education teachers at the school.

This lack of comfort led several general education teacher participants to express concerns with some of their colleagues regarding acceptance of students with disabilities and their accountability of them. One general education teacher explained:

They [general education teachers] don't like it. I'm going to be honest. I think they see it as another thing they have to deal with... Here is 90% of my kids, then I have to spend most of my time with this kid. And that's where we get the negativism. But they shouldn't be teaching if they are that way.

That a number of LHS teachers did not accept responsibility for students with disabilities and who were merely going through the motions was further verified during an interview with an administrator.

We have [general education teachers]...that I would even go as far as to say they're not comfortable making accommodations and modifications on assignments. And sometimes it may appear on the surface that they're doing the best that they can but they do a really good job of making it appear that they are doing the best that they can.

Paraeducators also shared their perceptions regarding the unwillingness of some to accept responsibility for students with disabilities. For example, one paraeducator asserted, "A lot of your general education teachers really don't want to have special education kids because they disrupt their class... But it's their responsibility to learn how to cope with that." All participants expressed the belief that some general education teachers at LHS made no effort to appropriately work with or support the students with disabilities and paraeducators assigned to their classrooms.

General education teacher and paraeducator participants expressed concerns regarding some LHS teachers' overreliance on the use of paraeducators. To illustrate, a general education teacher noted, "It's a little bit like, you [paraeducator] teach them. I have these [students] to worry about and you take care of them [students with disabilities]." Another general education teacher suggested, "I don't think we're held accountable...because they just turn it over to their

para," when he described how some general education teachers at LHS utilize the paraeducators at the school. A paraeducator conveyed this same sentiment related to teachers' overreliance on the use of paraeducators, "Some teachers over rely on the paraeducators and instead of communicating with the special education teachers, they [general education teachers] come to us." Participants believed all general education teachers should be willing and able to support the needs of students with disabilities and to guide the work of the paraeducators assigned to their classrooms. Furthermore, paraeducators also believed they were sometimes confronted with awkward situations that at times puts them "in the middle." A paraeducator explained:

I don't want to be disrespectful but I have noticed that a lot of special education kids are scared to go to the teacher... It's almost like...the teacher is the God of the classroom and we're the Jesus of the classroom and they [students] have to go through Jesus to get to God... And then God will go to Jesus and then Jesus comes back to the student, because they [the teachers] don't always want to directly deal with the student and their issues.

Participants noted there were some general education teachers at the school who have developed systems for getting paraeducators involved in the daily lessons whereas others have not. For example, one paraeducator noted, "Some of them [general education teachers] are great and they have great ways of getting you involved in the lesson of the day and then some it's just like you're another body in the room." The lack of willingness to accept and be accountable for students with disabilities on the part of some general education teachers also led paraeducators to believe they were sometimes underutilized and/or misused. To illustrate, one paraeducator offered, "Some teachers treat us like aides, like teacher aides...run copies, type up tests, grade papers...stuff that is taking away from helping kids." Another paraeducator shared this same frustration when teachers asked her to do something that took her away from assisting students.

She explained, "I've had teachers, while I'm helping a student with homework...come up and ask me to type a test and go make 20 copies before next block. When it interferes with actually helping students, that bothers me." Overwhelmingly, all participants expressed the need for all teachers at LHS to be accepting of students with disabilities as well as accountable for the work of the paraeducators assigned to their classrooms.

Training, Orientation, and Mentoring

All participants referenced the need for appropriate training, orientation, and mentoring for both teachers and paraeducators. One administrator shared, "Training for paras...training for the general education teachers," were keys to successful teacher and paraeducator teams in inclusion classroom settings.

Training and professional learning for teachers. The district and school offered multiple training opportunities for general education teachers. Over the past few years the district and school have provided trainings for teachers on how to work with paraeducators in inclusion settings. An administrated shared, "We've offered several in-service trainings for teachers on how to work with paraeducators." Participants indicated this type of training was offered several times throughout the school year as well as during orientation for new licensed staff. An experienced general education teacher, new to the district, explained the training he received during new staff orientation.

I went through the district's new teacher training. And there were a couple of hours, at least, and maybe even a half a day devoted to how you treat and how you handle another adult in the room. It's adequate. It's important, especially for new teachers to know how to handle a para because as a new teacher you're already nervous about how you're going

to have your students but then you get another adult in the room and most of the time those adults are older and have more experience.

As this training has been in place for only a few years, the majority of the general education teachers who participated in the study indicated they had not received any training on how to work with paraeducators. To illustrate a general education offered:

When I started in education, there wasn't such a thing. So, I've had to learn on my own. I think we've had some workshops with the special education department a little bit, but nothing really. I just had to find my own way and figure out how to use them [paraeducators]. And do I use them in the best ways all the time? No, because I really don't understand some of the things they can do.

"That would be pretty huge," was how another general teacher put it had he been provided an opportunity to take part in training on how to work with paraeducators. He went on to explain his experience when he was expected to work with a paraeducator for the first time.

I was lucky that I had a veteran para who trained me! I did not know how to use a para and so she just started doing things and then I started recognizing, okay, I see the value... She took the initiative because she already knew what to do.

Several other general education teachers expressed having the same lack of preparation for working with paraeducators and being left to figure it out on their own. Another general education teacher noted:

It was a surprise. Here's your schedule, half of the day is going to be spent with special education inclusion kids and you have a paraeducator. And oh, by the way, you should probably have some expectations for them [paraeducators]. But then very quickly I had

fellow colleagues come to the rescue and say, "Hey, you know here's what I do with them." You just kind of figure it out.

Overwhelmingly, general education teacher participants believed they had not received sufficient training to work with paraeducators and that they were expected to learn on the job.

Training and professional learning for paraeducators. For approximately 45 minutes each Monday afternoon paraeducators met for training. Included in the training were such topics as reviewing "snapshot" IEPs, strategies for behavior management, collaborative problem solving, and test administration integrity. During the interviews, general education teachers and paraeducators indicated they were not given any opportunity to suggest possible training topics for the paraeducators. This led several paraeducators to believe the majority of the trainings were the same year after year. "Some of the trainings that we do are the same ones every time, the exact same presentation by the exact same people. I've seen it seven times." was how one paraeducator described her experience over the past seven years. Several of the other paraeducators expressed the same concern with the training topics and wished they were provided more specific strategies to meet the unique needs of the students they serve. As an example, a paraeducator offered:

I feel like we should really go over what our duties are supposed to be. How best to help kids that you know don't respond well. I get thrown in with kids that are autistic and I'm like I have no training with this. I have no idea what to do. Even sometimes going and asking the case managers and they're like, "Oh, just do what you're doing." But I'm drowning. What am I supposed to be doing? How can I actually help?

The majority of the paraeducators who participated in the study felt the most beneficial training came from the support they provided each other. To illustrate another paraeducator related:

I think the only training we get is from each one of us. We talk. It's breaking confidentiality to talk to another para about a student. We're not really supposed to but who else can we talk to? Because we can't go to the case manager, because they're busy.

We can't interrupt their classes and sometimes the case managers don't know the kids.

Paraeducators seemed to think the formal training was not as helpful as sharing information with each other, even if doing so violated confidentiality.

Orientation and mentoring for paraeducators. At the beginning of each school year the district provides orientation for paraeducators. However, paraeducators hired mid-year did not benefit from this initial training, as one general education teacher shared:

We have a very good orientation at the beginning of the year but we don't have anything in place for paraeducators that we hire in the middle of the year. It's shadow this person this day and then you're on your own.

Although the school provides some form of orientation, paraeducator participants believed much of the material provided during orientation was often not relevant or sufficient to meet their needs. "Thrown in with the sharks. That's the way I look at it," was how one paraeducator described the lack of sufficient orientation and mentoring and the challenges some paraeducators faced when attempting to delineate their expectations. Another paraeducator reiterated the same sentiment, "It's kind of like you're shoved off the cliff and it's either sink or swim. It's on the job training." Another paraeducator described her orientation experience, "I followed a para for exactly one class and then I was thrown in with a different teacher and a different class." Paraeducator participants believed most of their orientation and mentoring were lacking and came from the perspective of "learn as you go."

Insufficient Time, Lack of Respect, and Paraeducator Turnover

Participants discussed how insufficient time, lack of respect, and frequent paraeducator turnover have negatively impacted the general education teacher and paraeducator partnerships.

Insufficient time. As reported previously, insufficient time was perceived as a barrier that made communicating, collaborating, and planning between general education teacher and paraeducator teams difficult. "There's just no way to fix that because the paraeducators' time is very limited. They aren't able to stay after school. They [the district] won't pay them to stay and talk with teachers and teachers have other responsibilities too," was how one general education teacher described the challenges they faced. Paraeducator participants also expressed concerns with the lack of time for preparing them to perform their duties as well as working collaboratively with the general education teachers. One paraeducator explained:

Coming from the ... district, I was kind of spoiled in the fact that we actually got the time, the in-service time, before students came to the building, to sit through some of those trainings and the strategies and things of that nature as well as work with the case managers a little bit before the kids ever hit the building. Whereas here we have the welcome back meeting where everybody who's hourly meets in the auditorium with the superintendent. I know after interacting with some of the newer paras that they do not have the advantage because they don't have the background with some of the stuff.

They're learning as they're going.

Overall, all participants agreed there was not sufficient time for general education teachers and paraeducators to communicate, plan, and collaborate on an ongoing basis.

Lack of respect. Although it has improved some in recent years, paraeducator participants believed they are sometimes undervalued. To illustrate a paraeducator explained:

When I first came to the high school paras weren't really respected and valued by administration for what we did. That has slowly changed and they have seen the value in what we provide and the kids that we've reached, even non-IEP students because we're here.

For paraeducators, lack of respect was also conveyed by the fact the school does not provide a place where they can store their personal items or items they do not need all day long. "It would be nice if we had a place that we could call our para room and we had a locker to put some things in because we have nowhere. We have to haul all of our crap around all of the time," was how one paraeducator described the school's lack of understanding for paraeducators needing a place to store their items. Several paraeducator participants remarked on the fact that the school does not provide all paraeducators with a school mailbox because there are not enough mailboxes available for all staff members at LHS. As a paraeducator noted, "I don't even have a box. They just put it [mail] in whoever's class I'm going be in that day and then sometimes they give it to ... [a teacher in the building] because we're neighbors [live next door to each other]." Even though not all paraeducators were provided a mailbox, other paraeducators did not realize they had been assigned a mailbox. Another paraeducator explained the responses she received from her peers when she told them to check their mailboxes for W-2 forms. She said, "We had this conversation earlier, when W-2s came in. I said something to the people I spend seminar with. I said, 'W-2s are in your box.' And I got, 'What box are you talking about?" Undervaluing the needs of the paraeducators, led participants in this group to believe they were not considered viable members of the school community and worthy of respect.

Paraeducator turnover. Administrator and teacher participants spoke to the challenges they faced with frequent paraeducator turnover. As one general education teacher offered,

"We've had quite a bit of turnover." Although paraeducator turnover was nothing new at LHS, general education teacher participants were particularly concerned because hiring a new paraeducator was like starting over again. They also felt the district and school needed to do more to retain paraeducators. "We're not doing anything to really prevent turnover and this is kind of viewed as a dead end kind of vision," was how one general education teacher described the district and school's lack of foresight in trying to retain paraeducator staff.

Paraeducators were typically low paid employees who were provided little training while asked to do considerable amount of work, often with difficult students. This was further verified during an interview with an administrator, "It is unfortunate, but it's also ingrained within the system that we pay the least, we're training them [paraeducators] very little and we put them in some of the most challenging situations and then seem surprised when they don't want to stick around." Low pay was believed to be one of the barriers for recruiting, hiring, and retaining paraeducator staff at LHS. As one special education teacher related, "We lost a good one [paraeducator] this year because... her husband was injured and they just couldn't live on the salary anymore. I'm not saying it has to be twenty dollars an hour but they need more money." In an attempt to recruit and retain paraeducators, in the fall of 2017 the district revised their salary schedule for paraeducators. The base pay for paraeducator went from \$8.25/hour, plus 10 cents/hour per years of experience to \$10.30/hour, plus 20 cents/hour per years of experience. Although this was a start, for several paraeducator participants it was less about the money and more about the kids. To illustrate, a paraeducator who had worked in a neighboring district where she earned more money described her experience, "Here it's about kids. The monetary decrease to me was far less of an issue then the physical stress that I was dealing with when I worked in [neighboring district]." Several other paraeducator participants were less concerned

about the hourly rate of pay than they were about benefits, in particular, the cost of health insurance. "This is the last year that I can be on my parent's [insurance]. So, I'm a little nervous about the insurance next year," was how one paraeducator shared her concerns about having to start paying for her insurance. Another paraeducator shared that the rising cost of health insurance would potentially mean she would be working just to pay for the insurance. "Honestly, I have five kids and my husband. I'm the only one covered on district insurance and to add any of my kids will take away more essentially than I earn." In order to offset low wages and the cost of insurance some paraeducators at LHS worked multiple jobs and depended on others for support. As one paraeducator offered, "I work two jobs and still live at home. I'm 25 and I still live at home." Another paraeducator described her efforts to take on additional summer work with the district to make ends meet, "I've been trying to get things done, like summer school and stuff like that. Just extra jobs, so I don't have to get a second job just for the summertime because those spots are hard to come by." Understanding the financial struggles that some of them faced led another paraeducator to assert, "I'm sitting here thinking, how do you make it? Because I have my husband and if I had to do it by myself, I'd have to get a different job."

In addition to low pay and the rising cost of health insurance, participants believed the paraeducators' lack of comfort with some of the job functions were barriers to recruiting and retaining paraeducator staff. One general education teacher offered, "I would say there's definitely a learning curve," when he referenced how some paraeducators were unaware of what their job entailed. Teacher and administrator participants believed some paraeducators not only lacked content knowledge but where also not prepared to work with some students in challenging situations.

For some paraeducator participants, another contributing factor to retention was the temporary nature of the job. As one paraeducator shared, "I'm not going to lie. I literally took this job because I spent a year out of college with nothing. Because I was like I need something and then I'll find something else." Although several paraeducators suggested they took the job while looking for something different, in the end and even though they did not plan to stay, ultimately they found the job rewarding as they felt they were making a difference for the students they served.

To summarize, all administrators, teachers, and paraeducators in this study believed they played an important role in supporting the needs of students with disabilities in inclusive settings. A strong collaborative partnership among general education teachers and SPED paraeducators was viewed as an essential component for the success of inclusive education at LHS. In addition, all participants agreed paraeducators were vital to the implementation of inclusive practices and that they provided valuable resources and support for all students at the school. With many individuals involved, there was a desire for the collaborative partnership among teachers and paraeducators to occur and be successful. Even with that, challenges continued to exist in their efforts. These challenges included the lack of acceptance for students with disabilities and the paraeducators assigned to support them in inclusion general education classroom settings. Furthermore, there was confusion, contradictions, and tension centered on the roles, responsibilities, and expectations for those involved as well as the resources available to support their inclusive practices.

CHAPTER 5

Conclusions and Implications

This study focused on the perceptions, beliefs, and practices of district and building administrators, general and special education teachers, and SPED paraeducators regarding the collaborative partnership between general education teachers and SPED paraeducators in supporting the needs of students with disabilities in inclusive settings in one suburban high school. This chapter presents conclusions drawn from the analysis of data and concludes with implications for practice and future study. The theoretical framework for this study was rooted in Activity Theory and its micro-components of *subject*, *object*, *community*, *tools*, *rules*, *and division of labor* were utilized in extrapolating the conclusions. It was helpful to view the processes of the general education teacher and paraeducator collaborative partnerships through the Activity Theory lens in order to determine how roles, routines, and interactions influence the partners' practices in an inclusive service delivery model. In addition, the use of Activity Theory allowed for an analysis of complex and changing forms of collaborative human activity. I begin by revisiting the theoretical framework.

Activity Theory (AT) considers an entire work/activity system, including teams and organizations. AT has its origin in the work of Vygotsky from his studies of cultural-historical psychology in the 1920s and later developed and expanded by Leont'ev and Engeström in the 1970s, 80s, and 90s (Roth & Lee, 2007). According to Engeström (1999), activity theory includes individual workers, their colleagues, and co-workers, the tools and equipment they use in their work, the rules that govern how they work, and the purpose to which members of the workplace community direct their activity. AT takes into account the environment, history of the person or persons, culture, role of artifacts, motivations, and the complexity of real life activity

(Morf & Weber, 2000). Researchers implementing an AT perspective view learning and practices as culturally and historically situated and dialogically based (Engeström, 1999).

Conclusions

Secondary schools are complex work environments with their own unique cultures. Collaborative partnerships in comprehensive high schools can be particularly challenging given the size of the school and the demarcation of disciplines (Mastropieri & Scruggs, 2001). In order for students with disabilities to succeed in inclusion classroom settings, the collaborative partnerships among general education teachers and SPED paraeducators should ideally supersede the demarcations that exist among staff and students. In addition, successful inclusion of students with disabilities is contingent on how schools as organizations and communities are able to support the inclusive practices of the adults involved (Devecchi & Rouse, 2010). According to Devecchi and Rouse:

Collaboration, as a process by which people work co-operatively together to accomplish a task, or series of tasks, of benefit to one or more people by reaching a mutual understanding of how to solve problems and resolve complex ethical and practical dilemmas, becomes a pivotal factor in determining the quality of the working relationship between the adults. (p. 91)

This collaborative effort in supporting the needs of students with disabilities engaged a variety of subjects (i.e. general and special education teachers, paraeducators, administrators), artifacts or tools (i.e. job descriptions, procedure guides, working documents, knowledge, training), rules (i.e. laws, regulations, guidelines), objectives, and motivations culminating in the sharing of ideas, practices, and outcomes. This study validates the importance of creating a school community and culture manifested in a collective sense of belonging and participation. For successful

implementation of inclusive practices to have occurred it was more than having clearing defined roles and responsibilities as well as formal rules and guidelines. The perceptions, attitudes, and beliefs of those involved in the implementation of such practices weighed heavily on how services were provided for students with disabilities and how the work of teacher and paraeducator teams were enacted. Although many resources and supports were and are currently implemented to ensure successful inclusive practices at LHS, there continue to be challenges.

Motivation, Purpose, and Tension within Teacher-Paraeducator Partnerships

Every activity is focused on achieving a certain objective and/or goal. This is the motivation and purpose for the activity to take place (Engeström, 2000). For this study, the objective and/or goals included the provision of special education services for students with disabilities in inclusion general education classroom settings. In addition, an important component to the success of an inclusive service delivery model is the development of teacher and paraeducator collaborative partnerships. This practice not only included the classroom community but the school community as well where administrators, teachers, and paraeducators, all played key roles in the implementation of inclusion for students with disabilities. According to Wilson (2014), objectives are the goals or outcomes of the subjects and system, and are influenced by perceptions, knowledge, and practice.

Motivation and purpose. The motivation and purpose for the implementation of inclusive education at LHS was administratively driven. They believed inclusion would afford more equitable opportunities for all students, particularly students with disabilities, resulting in a more unified system where all students were supported and valued. Furthermore, they believed the inclusion of students with disabilities in general education classrooms provided them access to more rigorous educational opportunities and curriculum, meaningful social interactions with

non-disabled peers, and the opportunity to be instructed by highly qualified content teachers. In order to implement this philosophy, students with disabilities required support from not only the general education teachers but from the special education paraeducators assigned to those classrooms as well. Although administrators at LHS had well intended motivation and purpose for inclusive education, there was a lack of understanding and support for inclusive practices on the part of some staff at the school. This situation lead to tension and misunderstanding for some of those charged with implementing inclusion services.

Tension and misunderstanding. Even though study participants appreciated and understood the importance of general education teacher and paraeducator collaborative partnerships in the implementation of inclusive practices, for some there was lack of clarity regarding what they were expected to do and how they were expected to perform. As a result of this, tension and misunderstanding existed within some collaborative partnerships. A lack of understanding as to the purpose of their inclusive practices, the needs of students, and the appropriate use of paraeducators overshadowed the work of some general education teacher and paraeducator teams. Furthermore, the lack of acceptance for students with disabilities and paraeducators on the part of some staff led to misunderstandings related to roles, responsibilities, and expectations. Although LHS provided job expectations and specified functions for teachers and paraeducators, those expectations and functions were interpreted and enacted differently. The role of paraeducators ranged from being a teacher's aide to teacher and for special education teachers and administrators the lines were blurred.

The truly collaborative partnerships went beyond having clearly defined roles, responsibilities, and expectations. Successful collaborative partnerships at LHS were rooted in cooperative relationships where teachers and paraeducators worked alongside each other in

supporting the needs of all students and were focused on what they were doing, why they were doing it, and how they were doing it. Research has emphasized the importance of cooperation and collaboration among all team members as they focus their activity in supporting students with disabilities in inclusion settings, yet this study demonstrates that genuine cooperation and collaboration cannot be forced or mandated, but is achieved through positive and supportive relationships where all are focused on providing for the needs of all students. Even when administrators express a commitment to inclusion, articulate a philosophy of wanting all students to feel included, the implementation of inclusion at LHS was not unproblematic. Merely assigning a teacher to an inclusion classroom and assigning a paraeducator did not always result in a functioning, collaborative team. When collaboration and cooperation worked well, the joint efforts of the general education teacher, paraeducator, and SPED teacher helped to promote positive relationships and the development of interdependence in their practices.

Division of Labor Between Teachers and Paraeducators: Hierarchical Relations

The division of labor provides for the distribution of actions and operations among the subjects within the community and assists in determining who is responsible for doing what (Foot, 2001). The roles of the general education teachers and paraeducators, in this research context, consisted of a variety of duties and responsibilities that were discovered through interviews, observations, and document reviews. Although the district and school had clearly delineated roles and responsibilities through job descriptions and other documents, they were enacted differently depending on the dispositions of the teachers and/or paraeducators.

Like most schools and other public bureaucracies, a hierarchy of power exists at LHS. General and special education teachers were on fairly equal footing, yet tension was evident between them. General education teachers felt they did not always receive the support they

needed from the special education teachers. They desired special education teachers to be more responsive to the needs of students in inclusive settings, provide support and guidance for the work of the paraeducators assigned to their classrooms, and hold all general education teachers accountable for their practices. Whereas, special education teachers felt not all general education teachers were receptive to having students with disabilities and paraeducators assigned to their classrooms. In some instances, this led to ineffective supports for students and ineffective teacher and paraeducator partnerships. In addition, special education teachers also exercised their power when they scheduled IEP meetings at times when general education teachers could not attend and then complained about the general education teachers' lack of attendance at those meetings, thus creating another source of tension between general and special education teachers.

At the bottom of the hierarchy were the paraeducators. Some general education teachers at LHS were unsure of their roles and responsibilities in supporting students with disabilities as well as how to effectively utilize paraeducators. Other teachers simply refused to work with students with disabilities or paraeducators assigned to their classrooms. Some teachers treated the paraeducator as little more than a teacher's aide and others expected them to assume teaching responsibilities. Although paraeducators did not mind assuming the leadership role in the classroom when expected to do, they did not appreciate being treated as a teacher's aide, especially when it took them away from supporting the needs of students. Paraeducators were willing to rise to the challenge when given the opportunity, but resented being asked to perform tasks they felt were beneath them. Moreover, paraeducators had no workspace, no access to computers, were minimally provided with training, and most did not even have mailboxes for receiving school communications. Although participants spoke to the vital role paraeducators played in supporting all students at LHS, these slights marginalized paraeducators, thus leading

them to question their value and worth.

Ensuring meaningful educational opportunities for students with disabilities in inclusion general education classrooms often requires support from paraeducators. At LHS paraeducators played a critical role in supporting students in inclusive classroom settings and assisting teachers. Yet, when they did not receive appropriate guidance from general and special education teachers, their effectiveness was diminished. The findings indicated the teacher's leadership and organizational skills are important for developing an effective partnership. For those teachers who had processes and procedures in place to support their work with students with disabilities and the work of the paraeducators assigned to their classrooms, the collaborative partnerships were enhanced. The paraeducators at LHS indicated when the teachers effectively communicated their expectations and provided opportunities for collaboration; a more positive work environment was created where they felt like an integral member of the classroom community. In addition, when general education teachers saw the potential benefits of having a paraeducator assigned to their classrooms, they found ways to include the paraeducators in the daily lessons and to utilize the paraeducators' skills to support all students. Conversely, when those processes and procedures were not in place there was uncertainty on the part of teachers and paraeducators as to the purpose of their partnership, what they were expected to do, and how they were expected to perform.

Moreover, the importance of administrators in supporting inclusive practices and the work of teacher and paraeducator collaborative partnerships cannot be over emphasized. The administrator's knowledge and skills regarding inclusive practices, what is needed to support such practices, and providing time to plan, communicate, and collaborate were essential for effective practices to occur. Even though district and building administrators have created a

vision for inclusive practices at LHS, have attempted to develop the knowledge, skills, and accountability for those responsible for the implementation of inclusion services, and provided multiple resources/tools, not all partnerships functioned effectively. Presumably, administrators had the most power in the hierarchy and although they did use their power to set inclusion in motion, they were unable to hold general education teachers accountable, which suggests the teachers had the power to resist and subvert inclusion at LHS. Consequently, the ineffective collaborative partnerships at LHS were due in part to some teachers' refusal to accept the philosophy of inclusive education and an unwillingness to develop a collaborative partnership with the paraeducators assigned to their classroom.

Resources and Tools: Availability and Needs

Tools and resources are the mediating devices by which the activity is executed. Tools can take many forms such as knowledge and/or material resources used by the subjects to mediate an activity and work toward a unified outcome (Engeström, 2001). The district and school provided numerous resources/tools for both teachers and paraeducators to support their inclusive practices. Some of the material resources available included well-developed job descriptions, handbooks, procedure guides, and working documents. Knowledge resources available included trainings and time for communication and collaboration. Although all of these resources were readily available, not all teachers and paraeducators accessed them and some were not even aware of what was available. This further contributed to misunderstandings surrounding the roles, responsibilities, and expectations on the part of teacher and paraeducator teams in supporting students with disabilities in inclusion classroom settings.

Lack of access to technology and training on curriculum were cited as resources/tools paraeducators felt they needed to support their work with students. General education teachers

also expressed concerns with some of the paraeducators' lack of content knowledge.

Paraeducators' lack of content knowledge and opportunity to access curriculum further contributed to the general education teachers and paraeducators inability to build successful partnerships. Paraeducators also expressed a need for the availability of a space or a place for them to store their personal and/or other items as well as being provided a school mailbox. For paraeducators, the lack of these resources led them to believe they were "second-class" citizens who were undervalued members of the school community.

Limited time for communication and collaboration. The school has moved away from maintaining two separate systems, where participants believed there was a divide between students with and without disabilities. In eliminating the divide, there was a need for teachers and paraeducators to assimilate information and ideas as well as to communicate with each other in a variety of settings in which students participate. A barrier expressed in this study indicated time for ongoing communication and collaboration was one of the most significant problems interfering with teacher-paraeducator collaboration at LHS. All participants understood the restraints of time, yet they desired more time throughout the school year for teachers and paraeducators to communicate and collaborate, believing their practices would subsequently improve. As some time each school year was provided for teachers and paraeducators to communication and collaborate, not all teachers and paraeducators utilized this time effectively, adding to difficulties for some teacher and paraeducator teams.

Differentiation to support the needs of staff. All study participants understood there was a need for training, orientation, and mentoring for both teachers and paraeducators. As a result, the findings revealed the need to differentiate training, orientation, mentoring, and support for teachers and paraeducators. All teacher and paraeducator participants believed the training

was either insufficient or inappropriate. In addition, there was confusion and misunderstanding as to what training was available and being provided as well as who was responsible for the training. While training was provided for paraeducators every Monday afternoon, it did not match their needs and it did not help them with what they needed to do on a day-to-day basis.

Paraeducators desired more specific training in order to meet the unique needs of the students they served. Veteran paraeducators wanted more advanced training that allowed them to build their skills instead of being repeatedly subjected to the same training year after year. Moreover, they expressed the need to be included in some of the training licensed staff received, especially when it came to curriculum content. General education teacher participants also desired more training on how to support students with disabilities as well as how to effectively work with the paraeducators assigned to their classrooms.

Rules Governing Inclusive Practices: Explicit and Implied

Rules governing special education and inclusive practices can be both formal and informal. Rules are the conventions and guidelines regulating the activities in the system (Hashim & Jones, 2007). At LHS the rules included both formal federal mandates; which guided special education processes and procedures, policies, organization procedures; and the informal social conventions by which the activity of providing special education services and the work of teacher and paraeducator teams were governed. At LHS formal rules such as special education mandates, policies, and guidelines assisted in providing direction as to how services and supports for students with disabilities were provided. According to the district's policies regulating special education services, "In accordance with the provisions of Federal and state law, it is the policy of this district to provide a free appropriate public education for every child (as defined by K.S. A. 72-962) who is a resident of the district. Special education services are provided for

environment. These programs shall be outlined in the appropriate handbooks or other documents." As reported previously, the district provided a Special Education Certified Procedure Guide for special education teachers. In addition, LPS provided a Para Procedure Guide and LHS provided a Paraeducator Resource Guide for paraeducators. All of these guides explicitly provided guidance for the work of special education teachers and paraeducators. These guides were available to other staff as well, yet none of the general education teacher participants were aware of them. This led some general education teachers to rely on the implied or "tacit" rules, which gave them permission not to participate in inclusive practices as well as not to be held accountable. Although the school expects teachers to share information regarding students, an implied or "tacit" rule at LHS did not allow paraeducators to talk to each other about the students they worked with.

Even though they were intended to facilitate inclusive practices, many of the formal and informal rules hindered the implementation of such practices. Therefore, leading teachers and paraeducators to make assumptions about how they were to interact and perform. Moreover, the district's funding and budgetary rules also restricted paraeducators from participating in meetings and trainings that took place before or after school and on in-service days.

A Culture of Acceptance and Respect is Not Widespread

All participants believed respecting individuals began with accepting and valuing all. To ensure successful activity systems occur often requires the community of workers to have a shared interest in and involvement with the same outcome (Postholm, 2015). One of the primary roadblocks to successful implementation of inclusive practices and the work of teacher and paraeducator teams at LHS was the lack of interest and involvement of some of the school

community members. As referenced previously, the school participates in a national program, *Capturing Kids Hearts*, for connecting relationally with students. The program emphasizes the importance of establishing a culture and climate of acceptance and an appreciation for individual differences (Flippen Group, 2018). Although all study participants were able to articulate the importance of a culture of acceptance and the reasons and benefits of including all students, in reality there was still resistance on the part of some staff in supporting inclusive practices. Systemic issues such as insufficient training, insufficient time for communication, collaboration, and planning, inconsistent interpretation of the rules governing inclusion services, and the inconsistent use of resources fueled the lack of acceptance and support for inclusive practices at LHS. Although unintentional, the system created an environment resulting in an unwillingness on the part of some to embrace the notion of collaborative partnerships and an unwillingness to accept responsibility for the implementation of inclusion services, thus leading participants to believe not all students and staff at LHS were accepted, respected, and valued.

Implications for Practice

Organizations such as schools are driven by tensions and/or contradictions surrounding change, understanding, and development. As tensions and/or contradictions are often perceived as obstacles to the implementation of an activity, per Activity Theory, they also provide opportunities for growth and the development of new ways to structure and engage in an activity (Verdon et al., 2015). This study may serve to advance the training and induction needs of teachers and paraeducators, how resources are accessed and utilized, and how a collective sense of acceptance and respect can be cultivated within the school and classroom communities to better serve the needs of all students.

Training, Induction, and the Use of Resources

It takes time and resources to develop a successful collaborative partnership. The ability and willingness for teachers and paraeducators to collaborate is fundamental because they are the instructional providers (Devecchi & Rouse, 2010). As instructional providers their skills and dispositions include providing instruction to students with and without disabilities and facilitating collaborative problem solving when difficulties arise. In addition, the teacher's leadership skills extend to the supervision and management of paraeducators and their utilization to appropriately meet the needs of all students in inclusive environments (Chopra et al., 2011; Dover, 2002; French & Chopra, 2006). Contributing factors to the success in the use of paraeducators includes what they are expected to do, the ways in which they are expected to function, and the complex nature of their supervision, management, and support.

Teachers need to commit themselves to teaching students with disabilities and working with the paraeducators assigned to their classrooms within inclusive and collaborate structures (Berry, 2010). Teachers and paraeducators alike need to communicate what supports and resources they need to be successful. Moreover, those providing oversight for inclusive practices, need to contemplate how training, resources in the form of information, time, and tools can be utilized effectively to support the needs of teacher and paraeducator teams. Historically, very little, if any, training on how to support students with disabilities and the work of the paraeducators assigned to their classrooms has been provided to teachers prior to starting their teaching careers. Programs for preparing teachers and in-service trainings once employed should emphasize practice and experience in collaborative planning, teaching, and problem solving. Similarly, as paraeducators receive minimal preparation prior to starting their jobs, expanded orientation and mentoring programs that allow paraeducators to observe, practice, and develop

their skills may result in higher levels of confidence as well as higher retention rates.

Districts and schools that structure systems which allow for differentiation based on the individual needs of the adults entrusted to provide inclusion services, may see more positive results with their inclusive practices. Perhaps further consideration should be given to how schools and districts might develop and expand the skills and abilities of their teacher and paraeducator partnerships by focusing on what collaboration means and how teachers and paraeducators can cultivate and enhance their collaborative skillset. In the long run, this could potentially result in the better use of time, resources, personnel, and outcomes for students.

Acceptance and Respect for All: A Precursor to the Success of an Activity System

A significant implication from this study revealed the need for a shared vision for acceptance of students, staff, and the collaborative work of teacher and paraeducator teams. Students with disabilities have had access to public school systems for over 40 years (Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975, 1975), yet this study indicated there continue to be concerns regarding acceptance. Although legal mandates, rules, and policies are in place for the provision of special education services for students with disabilities, the implementation of inclusive practices can be influenced by perceptions, biases, and attitudes of those involved with such practices. Again, it is not enough to know what inclusion is and what it should look like. As this study indicated, even after more than 40 years of legislation, developing an appreciation of and commitment to inclusive practices continues to be a challenge.

This study revealed that even when a school makes a deliberate commitment to inclusion and creates a culture of acceptance, it is not necessarily enough to ensure effective inclusive practices. Schools with successful inclusion programs have a strong, active, and committed administrator (McLeskey & Waldron, 2015; Salisbury, 2006). Successful collaborative

partnerships evolve through acceptance, trust, and respect. Therefore, the administrator's ability to develop and facilitate collaborative partnerships is dependent on their leadership skills and the vision they possess for inclusive education and collaborative practices (Boscardin, 2005).

Administrators must recognize that learning to collaborate is a developmental process that requires practice, ongoing training, and feedback. In order to positively influence the thinking and perceptions of school personnel regarding inclusion practices and the work of teacher and paraeducator teams, school administrators must provide time for appropriate training, instill a sense of partnership, and promote effective processes for communication, collaboration, and planning. In addition, administrators must find ways to structure expectations, how decisions are made, how goals are achieved, and how to hold members of the school community accountable for their collaborative work. Furthermore, as hierarchical structures are still the norm in most schools, administrators should find ways to model collaborative decision-making, establish processes for communicating, and seek opportunities that establish collaboration as an expected practice. This may result in promoting professional bonds among general and special education teachers and paraeducators, ultimately valuing everyone's perspective as they support the needs of students (Boscardin, 2005; McLeskey & Waldron, 2015; Riehl, 2000).

Furthermore, for successful activity systems to occur there is a need for cohesion among all members of the school community. This requires all members to be open to inclusion services and supports and understanding the needs of all students. If the feelings and frustrations for those involved in the implementation of inclusive practices are not adequately addressed, barriers will continue to exist for teacher and paraeducator teams. Moreover, failure to provide opportunities for teachers and paraeducators to grow and develop their collaborative skills in supporting the needs of students with disabilities increases the likelihood a negative sense of

acceptance and respect of others will continue to overshadow the work of teacher and paraeducator teams.

Implications for Further Study

Successful general education teacher and paraeducator collaborative partnerships are important to meeting the needs of students with disabilities in inclusive settings. It is an opportunity where collaborators define their identities through their knowledge, skills, and expertise (Pickett, 1999). In order to define identities, supportive and meaningful interactions must occur. Collaborating, therefore, requires people to support each other through the sharing of knowledge and expertise to facilitate and aid in the collaborative process as well as to effectively support the needs of the students. However, this can only be achieved if inclusion and the people who are directly in charge of it are an integral part of the process and school community.

Future research should continue to investigate the development of the collaborative partnerships among general education teachers and SPED paraeducators and their work together in supporting the needs of student with disabilities in inclusion classroom settings. This chapter included conclusions and implications drawn from individual and focus group interviews with three district and building administrators, 17 general and special education teachers, and 14 SPED paraeducators as well as a review of documents and classroom observations. The experiences and perceptions of these participants may provide valuable insight for other schools and school personnel who continue to work toward inclusive environments where both students and the adults who support them are valued. While extending this work on collaborative partnerships, future research might examine how do deeply held beliefs, attitudes, dispositions, and values impact inclusive practices for teachers and paraeducators as well as how can a

collective sense for inclusion of students with disabilities be effectively developed in all? In addition, as the roles and responsibilities for paraeducators vary and are interpreted differently, how can schools clearly delineate and communicate what are the expectations of paraeducators in inclusion settings and lastly, as a community of learners, how can schools focus their efforts on the needs of the adults charged with implementing inclusive practices?

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- Ashbaker, B. Y., & Morgan, J. (2001). Paraeducators: A powerful human resource. *Streamlined Seminar: National Association of Elementary School Principals*, 19(2), 1-4.
- Ashbaker, B. Y., & Morgan, J. (2012). Team players and team managers: Special educators working with paraeducators to support inclusive classrooms. *Creative Education*, *3*(03), 322-327. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/ce.2012.33051
- Austin, K. (2014). Ten things every paraprofessional wishes you knew: *Innovations and Perspectives*. Retrieved November 15, 2015 from http://www.ttacnews.vcu.edu/2014/02/ten-things-every-paraprofessional-wishes-you-knew/
- Bauman, D., Silla, V., & Stufft, D. (2010). First and second year teachers' comfort and training for working with paraeducators. *The International Journal of Learning*, 17(3), 501-507.
- Berry, R. (2010). Preservice and early career teachers' attitudes toward inclusion, instructional accommodations, and fairness: Three profiles. *The Teacher Educator*, 45(2), 75-95. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08878731003623677
- Blalock, G. (1991). Paraprofessionals: Critical team members in our special education programs. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 24(4), 200-214. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/105345129102600404
- Boomer, L. W. (1980). Special education paraprofessionals: A guide for teachers. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *12*(4), 146-149. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/004005998001200404
- Boscardin, M. L. (2005). The administrative role in transforming secondary schools to support inclusive evidence-based practices. *American Secondary Education*, *33*(3), 21-32.
- Breton, W. (2010). Special education paraprofessionals: Perceptions of preservice preparation, supervision, and ongoing developmental training. *International Journal of Special Education*, 25(1), 34-45.
- Brotherson, M. L., & Johnson, M. A. (1971). *Teacher aide handbook: A guide for new careers in education*. Danville, IL: Interstate Printers and Publishers.
- Busch, C., De Maret, P., Flynn, T., Kellum, R., Le, S., Meyers, B., . . . Palmquist, M. (2005). An introduction to content analysis. Retrieved October 15, 2017 from http://writing.colostate.edu/guides/research/content/pop2a.cfm
- Capizzi, A., & Da Fonte, A. (2012). Supporting paraeducators through a collaborative classroom support plan. *Focus on Exceptional Children*, 44(6), 1-16.

- Carroll, D. (2001). Considering paraeducator training, roles, and responsibilities. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 34(2), 60-64. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/004005990103400209
- Carter, E., O'Rourke, L., Sisco, L. G., & Pelsue, D. (2009). Knowledge, responsibilities, and training needs of paraprofessionals in elementary and secondary schools. *Remedial and Special Education*, *30*(6), 344-359. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0741932508324399
- Causton-Theoharis, J., & Theoharis, G. (2008). Creating inclusive schools for all students. *The School Administrator*, 65(8), 24-30.
- Chiseri-Strater, E. (1996). Turning in upon ourselves: Positionality, subjectivity, and refexivity in case study and ethnographic research. In P. Mortensen & G. Kirsch (Eds.), *Ethics and representation in qualitative studies of literacy* (pp. 115-133). Urbana, IL: National Council of Teachers of English.
- Chopra, R. V., Sandoval-Lucero, E., Aragon, L., Bernal, C., De Balderas, H. B., & Carroll, D. (2004). The paraprofessional role of connector. *Remedial and Special Education*, 25(4), 219-231. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/07419325040250040501
- Chopra, R. V., Sandoval-Lucero, E., & French, N. K. (2011). Effective supervision of paraeducators: Multiple benefits and outcomes. *National Teacher Education Journal*, *4*(2).
- Council for Exceptional Children. (2015). Paraeducator preparation guidelines. Retrieved November 7, 2017 from http://www.cec.sped.org/Standards/Paraeducator-Preparation-Guidelines
- Creswell, J. (2015). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research* (5th ed.). San Fransico, CA: Pearson.
- Cruickshank, W. H. (1957). Assistants for teachers of exceptional children. Syracuse, NY: Syracuse University Press.
- Daniels, V. I., & McBride, A. (2001). Paraeducators as critical team members: Redefining roles and responsibilities. *Nassp Bulletin*, 85(623), 66-74. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/019263650108562308
- de Boer, A., Pijl, S. J., & Minnaert, A. (2011). Regular primary schoolteachers' attitudes towards inclusive education: A review of the literature. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 15(3), 331-353. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13603110903030089
- Devecchi, C., & Rouse, M. (2010). An exploration of the features of effective collaboration between teachers and teaching assistants in secondary schools. *Support for Learning*, 25(2), 91-99. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9604.2010.01445.x

- Devlin, P. (2008). Create effective teacher-paraprofessional teams. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 44(1), 41-44. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1053451208318874
- Douglas, S. N., Chapin, S. E., & Nolan, J. F. (2016). Special education teachers' experiences supporting and supervising paraeducators: Implications for special and general education settings. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, *39*(1), 60-74. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0888406415616443
- Dover, W. F. (2002). *Instructional management of paraeducators in inclusive classrooms: The perspectives of the teachers*. Paper presented at the Annual National Conference Proceedings of the American Council on Rural Special Education, Reno, NV.
- Downing, J. E., Ryndak, D. L., & Clark, D. (2000). Paraeducators in inclusive classrooms their own perceptions. *Remedial and Special Education*, 21(3), 171-181. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/074193250002100308
- Drecktrah, M. E. (2000). Preservice teachers' preparation to work with paraeducators. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 23(2), 157-164. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/088840640002300208
- Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975, Pub. L. No. 94-142 § 1401 (1975).
- Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965, Pub. L. No. 89-10 § 201 (1965).
- Endrew F. v. Douglas County School District, 15-827 C.F.R. (2017).
- Engeström, Y. (1999). Innovative learning in work teams: Analyzing cycles of knowledge creation in practice. In Y. Engeström, R. Miettinen, & R. L. Punamäki (Eds.), *Perspective on activity theory* (pp. 377-406). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Engeström, Y. (2000). Activity theory as a framework for analyzing and redesigning work. *Ergonomics*, 43(7), 960-974. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/001401300409143
- Engeström, Y. (2001). Expansive learning at work: Toward an activity theoretical reconceptualization. *Journal of Education and Work, 14*(1), 133-156. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13639080020028747
- Every Student Succeeds Act 2015 Pub. L. 114-95, § 1009 (2015).
- Finkel, E. (2014). Pressure on paraeducators. *District Administration*, 50(10), 42-46.
- Fisher, M., & Pleasants, S. L. (2012). Roles, responsibilities, and concerns of paraeducators: Findings from a statewide survey. *Remedial and Special Education*, *35*(5), 287-297. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0741932510397762
- Flippen Group. (2018). Retrieved March 21, 2018 from https://flippengroup.com

- Foot, K. (2001). Cultural-Historical Activity Theory as practical theory: Illuminating the development of a conflict monitoring network. *Communication Theory*, 11(1), 56-83.
- French, N. K. (1997). Management of paraeducators. In A. L. Pickett & K. Gerlach (Eds.), *Supervising paraeducators in school settings* (pp. 91-169). Austin, TX: PRO-ED.
- French, N. K. (1998). Working together resource teachers and paraeducators. *Remedial and Special Education*, 19(6), 357-368. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/074193259801900606
- French, N. K. (2001). Supervising paraprofessionals: A survey of teacher practices. *The Journal of Special Education*, 35(1), 41-53. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/002246690103500105
- French, N. K. (2003). *Managing paraeducators in your school: How to hire, train, and supervise non-certified staff.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- French, N. K., & Chopra, R. V. (2006). Teachers as executives. *Theory Into Practice*, 45(3), 230-238. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/s15430421tip4503_5
- French, N. K., & Pickett, A. L. (1997). Paraprofessionals in special education: Issues for teacher educators. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 20(1), 61-73. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/088840649702000107
- Gerber, S. B., Finn, J. D., Achilles, C. M., & Boyd-Zaharias, J. (2001). Teacher aides and students' academic achievement. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 23(2), 123-143.
- Ghere, G., & York-Barr, J. (2007). Paraprofessional turnover and retention in inclusive programs: Hidden costs and promising practices. *Remedial and Special Education*, 28(1), 21-32. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/07419325070280010301
- Giangreco, M. F. (2003). Working with paraprofessionals. *Educational Leadership*, 61(2), 50-54.
- Giangreco, M. F. (2010). Utilization of teacher assistants in inclusive schools: Is it the kind of help that helping is all about? *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 25(4), 341-345. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2010.513537
- Giangreco, M. F., & Broer, S. M. (2005). Questionable utilization of paraprofessionals in inclusive schools: Are we addressing symptoms or causes? *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 20(1), 10-26. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/10883576050200010201
- Giangreco, M. F., & Broer, S. M. (2007). School-based screening to determine overreliance on paraprofessionals. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 22(3), 149-158. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/10883576070220030201

- Giangreco, M. F., Broer, S. M., & Suter, J. C. (2011). Guidelines for selecting alternatives to overreliance on paraprofessionals: Field-testing in inclusion-oriented schools. *Remedial and Special Education*, 32(1), 22-38. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0741932509355951
- Giangreco, M. F., & Doyle, M. B. (2002). Students with disabilities and paraprofessional supports: Benefits, balance, and band-aids. *Focus on Exceptional Children*, 34(7), 1-12.
- Giangreco, M. F., Edelman, S. W., Luiselli, T. E., & MacFarland, S. C. (1997). Helping or hovering: Effects of instructional assistant proximity on students with disabilities. *Exceptional Children*, 64(1), 7-18.
- Giangreco, M. F., Smith, C. S., & Pinckney, E. (2006). Addressing the paraprofessional dilemma in an inclusive school: A program description. *Research and Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, 31(3), 215-229. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/154079690603100302
- Glaser, B. G. (1965). The constant comparative method of qulitative analysis. *Social Problems*, 12(4), 436-445. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/798843
- Glickman, C. D., Gordon, S. P., & Ross-Gordon, J. M. (2007). Supervision and instructional leadership: A developmental approach. Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Graziano, K. J., & Navarrete, L. A. (2012). Co-Teaching in a teacher education classroom: Collaboration, compromise, and creativity. *Issues in Teacher Education*, 21(1), 109-126.
- Haller, E. J., & Kleine, P. F. (2001). *Using educational research: A school administrator's guide*. New York, NY: Addison Wesley Longman.
- Hashim, N. H., & Jones, M. (2007). *Activity theory: A framework for qualitative analysis*. Paper presented at the 4th International Qualitative Research Conference, Malaysia.
- Hofmeister, A. (1993). Paraprofessionals in special education: Alternatives to casteism. *New Directions: The Newsletter of the National Resource Center for Paraprofessional in Education and Related Services*, 14(3), 1-3.
- Howard, R., & Ford, J. (2007). The roles and responsibilities of teacher aides supporting students with special needs in secondary school settings. *Australasian Journal of Special Education*, 31(1), 25-33. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10300110701268461
- Howes, A. (2003). Teaching reforms and the impact of paid adult support on participation and learning in mainstream schools. *Support for Learning*, *18*(4), 147-153. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.0268-2141.2003.00300.x
- Humphrey, N., Wigelsworth, M., Barlow, A., & Squires, G. (2013). The role of school and individual differences in the academic attainment of learners with special education needs and disabilities: A multi-level analysis. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 17(9), 909-931. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2012.718373

- Hunter-Johnson, Y., Newton, N., & Cambridge-Johnson, J. (2014). What does teachers' perception have to do with inclusive education: A Bahamian context. *International Journal of Special Education*, 29(1), 143-157.
- Idol, L. (2006). Toward inclusion of special education students in general education: A program evaluation of eight schools. *Remedial and Special Education*, 27(2), 77-94.
- Individuals with Disabilities Education Act Amendments of 1990, Pub. L. No. 101-476, § 104 (1990).
- Individuals with Disabilities Education Act Amendments of 1997, Pub. L. No. 105-17 § 673 (1997).
- Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004, Pub. L. No. 108-446 § 1400 (2004).
- Irvin, D. W., Ingram, P., Huffman, J., Mason, R., & Willis, H. (2018). Exploring paraprofessional and classroom factors affecting teacher supervision. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 73, 106-114. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2017.12.013
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. P. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 17(42), 1-10.
- Kansas State Department of Education. (2014). *Kansas special education services process handbook*. Topeka, KS.
- Kansas State Department of Education. (2017). Retrieved March 17, 2018 from www.ksreportcard.ksde.org
- Kilbourn, B. (2006). The qualitative doctoral dissertation proposal. *Teachers College Record*, 108(4), 529-576. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9620.2006.00660.x
- Lapan, S. D., Quartaroli, M. T., & Riemer, F. J. (2012). *Qualitative research: An introduction to methods and designs*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.
- Lesar, S., Benner, S. M., Habel, J., & Coleman, L. (1997). Preparing general education teachers for inclusive settings: A constructivist teacher education program. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 20(3), 204-220.
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Liston, A. G., Nevin, A., & Malian, I. (2009). What do paraeducators in inclusive classrooms say about their work? Analysis of national survey data and follow-up interviews in California. *Teaching Exceptional Children Plus*, 5(5), 1-17.

- Marks, S. U., Schrader, C., & Levine, M. (1999). Paraeducator experiences in inclusive settings: helping, hovering, or holding their own. *Exceptional Children*, 65(3), 315-328.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2011). *Designing qualitative research (5th ed.)*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Marx, T., Hart, J., Nelson, L., Love, J., Baxter, C., Gartin, B., & Schaefer Whitby, P. (2014). Guiding IEP teams on meeting the least restrictive environment mandate. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 50(1), 45-50. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1053451214532345
- Mastropieri, M. A., & Scruggs, T. E. (2001). Promoting inclusion in secondary classrooms. *Learning Disabilities Quarterly*, 24(4). doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1511115
- McLeskey, J., & Waldron, N. (2015). Effective leadership makes schools truly inclusive. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 96(5), 68-73. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0031721715569474
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.
- Morf, M. E., & Weber, W. G. (2000). I/O Psychology and the bridging of A. N. Leont'ev's activity theory. *Canadian Psychology*, *41*(2), 81-93. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0088234
- Morgan, J., & Ashbaker, B. (2001). A teacher's guide to working with paraeducators and other classroom aides. Alexandria, VA: ASCD.
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2015). Projections of Education Statistics. Retrieved November 10, 2015 from http://nces.ed.gov
- No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, Pub. L. 101-110 § 6319 (2001).
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Pickett, A. L. (1997). Paraeducators in school settings: Framing the issues. In A. L. Pickett & K. Gerlach (Eds.), *Supervising paraeducators in school settings* (pp. 1-24). Austin, TX: PRO-ED.
- Pickett, A. L. (1999). Strengthening and supporting teacher/provider-paraeducator teams: Guidelines for paraeducator roles, supervision, and preparation. Washington, DC: Office of Special Education and Rehabilitation Services.
- Pickett, A. L. (2002). Paraeducators: The evolution in their roles, responsibilities, training, and supervision. *Impact*, 15(2).

- Pickett, A. L., Likins, M., & Wallace, T. (2003). *The employment and preparation of paraeducators: The state of the art*. City University of New York, NY Center for Advanced Study in Education.
- Pohio, K. (2016). Activity theory tools. In D. S. P. Gedera & P. J. Williams (Eds.), *Activity theory in education: Research and practice* (pp. 153-165). Rotterdam, The Netherlands: Sense Publishers.
- Postholm, M. B. (2015). Methodologies in Cultural-Historical Activity Theory: The example in school-based development. *Educational Research*, *57*(1), 43-58. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2014.983723
- Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association (6th edition). (2011). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Pugach, M. (1995). On the failure of imagination in inclusive schooling. *Journal of Special Education*, 29(2), 212-223. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/002246699502900212
- Radford, J., Bosanquet, P., Webster, R., & Blatchford, P. (2015). Scaffolding learning for independence: Clarifying teacher and teaching assistant roles for children with special educational needs. *Learning and Instruction*, *36*, 1-10. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2014.10.005
- Riehl, C. J. (2000). The principal's role in creating inclusive schools for diverse students: A review of normative, empirical, and critical literature on the practice of educational administration. *Review of Educational Research*, 70(1), 55-81. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.3102/00346543070001055
- Riggs, C. G., & Mueller, P. H. (2001). Employment and utilization of paraeducators in inclusive settings. *The Journal of Special Education*, *35*(1), 54-62. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/002246690103500106
- Roth, W. M. (2009). Activity theory and education: An introduction. *Mind, Culture, and Activity,* 11(1), 1-8. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/s15327884mca11011
- Roth, W. M., & Lee, Y. J. (2007). Vygotsky's neglected legacy: Cultural-historical activity theory. *Review of Educational Research*, 77(2), 186-232. doi:http://dx.doi.org10.3102/0034654306298273
- Rozalski, M., Stewart, A., & Miller, J. (2010). How to determine the least restrictive environment for students with disabilities. *Exceptionality*, 18(3), 151-163. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09362835.2010.491991

- Rueda, R., & Munzo, L. (2002). Apprenticeship for teaching: Professional development issues surrounding the collaborative relationship between teachers and paraeducators. *Teacher and Teacher Education*, 18(5), 503-521. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0742-051X(02)00013-6
- Salisbury, C. (2006). Principals' perspectives on inclusive elementary schools. *Research and Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, 31(1), 70-82. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.2511/rpsd.31.1.70
- Salzberg, C. L., & Morgan, J. (1995). Preparing teachers to work with paraeducators. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 18(1), 49-55. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/088840649501800106
- Scruggs, T. E., Mastropieri, M. A., & McDuffie, K. A. (2007). Co-teaching in inclusive classrooms: A metasynthesis of qualitative research. *Exceptional Children*, *73*(4), 392-416. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/001440290707300401
- Soodak, L., Podell, D. M., & Lehman, L. R. (1998). Teacher, student, and school attributes as predictors of the teachers' responses to inclusion. *The Journal of Special Education*, 31(4), 480-497. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/002246699803100405
- Stake, R. E. (1995). The art of case study research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Theoharis, G., & Causton, J. (2014). Leading inclusive reform for students with disabilities: A school and statewide approach. *Theory Into Practice*, *53*(2), 82-97. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00405841.2014.885808
- Tillery, C. Y., Werts, M. G., Roark, R., & Harris, S. (2003). Perceptions of paraeducators on job retention. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 26(2), 118-127. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/088840640302600205
- Tobin, R. (2006). Five ways to facilitate the teacher assistant's work in the classroom. *Teaching Exceptional Children Plus*, 2(6), article 4.
- Tracy, S. J. (2010). Qualitative quality: Eight "big-tent" criteria for excellent qualitative research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 16(10), 837-851. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1077800410383121
- Trautman, M. L. (2004). Preparing and managing paraprofessionals. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 39(3), 131-138. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/10534512040390030101
- United States Department of Education. (2016). 38th Annual Report to Congress on the Implementation of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. Retrieved March 11, 2016 from http://www.ed.gov/about/reports/annual/osep

- Vasa, S. F., & Steckelberg, A. L. (1997). Paraedcuators in school settings: Administrative issues. In A. L. Pickett & K. Gerlach (Eds.), *Supervising paraeducators in school settings: A team approach* (pp. 235-262). Austin, TX: Pro-Ed.
- Verdon, S., McLeod, S., & Wong, S. (2015). Reconceptualizing practice with multilingual children with speech sound disorders: People, practicalities and policy. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders*, 50(1), 48-62. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1460-6984.12112
- Villa, R. A., & Thousand, J. S. (2005). *Creating an inclusive school* (2nd ed.). Alexandria, VA: ASCD.
- Wallace, T., Anderson, A., & Bartholomay, T. (2002). Collaboration: An element associated with the success of four inclusive high schools. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation*, *13*(4), 349-381. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/S1532768XJEPC1304_05
- Wallace, T., Shin, J., Bartholomay, T., & Stahl, B. J. (2001). Knowledge and skills for teachers supervising the work of paraprofessionals. *Exceptional Children*, 67(4), 520-533. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/001440290106700406
- Weiner, H. M. (2003). Effective inclusion: Professional development in the context of the classroom. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *35*(6), 12-18. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/004005990303500602
- Wilson, V. (2014). Examining teacher education through cultural-historical activity theory. *Teacher Education Advancement Network Journal*, 6(1), 20-29.
- Wood, M. (1998). Whose job is it anyway: Educational roles in inclusion. *Exceptional Children*, 64(2), 181-195.
- Worrell, J. (2008). How secondary schools can avoid the seven deadly "sins" of inclusion. *American Secondary Education*, *36*(2), 43-59.
- Worthen, H. (2011). CHAT learning theory for labor educators: Work process knowledge, activity theory, and communities of practice. *Labor Studies Journal*, *36*(4), 538-544. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0160449X11425658
- Yamagata-Lynch, L. C. (2007). Confronting analytical dilemmas for understanding complex human interactions in design-based research from a Cultural-Historical Activity Theory (CHAT) framework. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, *16*(4), 451-484. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10508400701524777
- Yell, M. L., Conroy, T., Katsiyannis, A., & Conroy, T. (2015). Individualized education programs (IEPS) and special education programming for student with disabilities in urban schools. *Fordham Urban Law Journal*, 41(2), 669-714.

APPENDICES

Appendix A

Focus Group/Individual Interview Protocols

Hello, my name is Karen Kuhn and I am a doctoral student at Wichita State University in the Educational Leadership program. I appreciate your willingness to take part in my research. The purpose of this study is to investigate the perspectives, perceptions, and experiences of the participants regarding the work of general education teacher-special education paraeducator teams in supporting the needs of students with disabilities in inclusive general education classroom settings. You have been selected as a participant in this study because as a general or special education teacher, special education paraeducator, or administrator you have unique knowledge and experience, which will contribute to the research. Before we begin, I would like to share a few procedures for our conversation. Although we may be on a first name basis, no names or identifying information will be used when I report the results of this interview. With your permission, I would like to audio-record our conversation for response clarity and to assure the accurate transcription and analysis of data when reporting the findings of this study. Once I have completed the transcription, I will send you a copy of the transcription for review and ask that you let me know if the information you provided was accurately captured and transcribed. This session will last approximately 45-60 minutes. Do you have any questions? Again, thank you for your willingness to participate in this study.

General/Special Education Teacher Interview Protocol:

Please state your name, your position, and how long you have been in this position. What is your educational level?

- 1. Describe for me what inclusive practices for students with disabilities looks like at Lakeview High School.
 - a. What are the purposes and/or goals of including students with disabilities in general education classroom settings?
- 2. What responsibilities do general education teachers have in supporting the needs of students with disabilities in inclusive general education classroom settings?
 - a. Does the school or district explicitly outline these responsibilities or are they inferred/assumed?
 - b. How comfortable do you think general education teachers are you when taking on these responsibilities?
 - c. For special education teachers Tell me what you expect from the special education teachers?
- 3. What responsibilities do special education teachers have in supporting the needs of students with disabilities in inclusive general education classroom settings?
 - a. Does the school or district explicitly outline these responsibilities or are they inferred/assumed?
 - b. How comfortable do you think special education teachers are you when taking on these responsibilities?
 - c. For general education teachers Tell me what you expect from the general education teachers?

- 4. What responsibilities do the school or district administrators have in supporting the needs of students with disabilities in inclusive general education classroom settings?
 - a. Tell me what you expect from school or district administrators?
- 5. What responsibilities do SPED paraeducators have in supporting the needs of students with disabilities in inclusive general education classroom settings?
 - a. Does the school or district explicitly outline these responsibilities or are they inferred/assumed?
 - b. How comfortable do you think SPED paraeducators are when taking on these responsibilities?
 - c. Tell me what you expect from the special education paraeducators and how do you communicate those expectations?
- 6. How are the SPED paraeducator assignments determined and do you have input in the process?
- 7. How would you describe your relationship with the SPED paraeducators you are assigned to work with?
 - a. What have been the benefits?
 - b. What have been the challenges?
- 8. In what ways were you prepared to work with SPED paraeducators?
- 9. What are the most important things general and special education teachers need to know and/or skills they need to have to effectively work with SPED paraeducators?
 - a. What do you think would be the best way to prepare general or special education teachers for working with SPED paraeducators?
- 10. What resources do you feel are available and/or needed for you to effectively work with SPED paraeducators?
 - a. What ongoing support or professional learning would help you to be more effective in working with SPED paraeducators?
 - b. What training or support do you think SPED paraeducators need to effectively perform their responsibilities in inclusive general education classroom settings?
- 11. Is there anything I have not asked that you would like to share with me?

Special Education Paraeducator Interview Protocol:

Please state your name, your position, and how long you have been in this position. What is your educational level?

- 1. Describe for me what inclusive practices for students with disabilities looks like at Lakeview High School.
 - a. What are the purposes and/or goals of including students with disabilities in general education classroom settings?
- 2. What responsibilities do school or district administrators have in supporting the needs of students with disabilities in inclusive general education classroom settings?
 - a. Tell me what you expect from school or district administrators?
- 3. What responsibilities do general education teachers have in supporting the needs of students with disabilities in inclusive general education classroom settings?
 - a. Does the school or district explicitly outline these responsibilities or are they inferred/assumed?

- b. How comfortable do you think the general education teachers are when taking on these responsibilities?
- c. Tell me what you expect from general education teachers?
- 4. What responsibilities do special education teachers have in supporting the needs of students with disabilities in inclusive general education classroom settings?
 - a. Does the school or district explicitly outline these responsibilities or are they inferred/assumed?
 - b. How comfortable do you think the special education teachers are when taking on these responsibilities?
 - c. Tell me what you expect from special education teachers?
- 5. What responsibilities do SPED paraeducators have in supporting the needs of students with disabilities in inclusive general education classroom settings?
 - a. Does the school or district explicitly outline these responsibilities or are they inferred/assumed?
 - b. How comfortable and what degree of independence would you say you have when taking on these responsibilities?
- 6. How is your assignment determined and do you have input in the process?
- 7. How would you describe your relationship with the teachers you are assigned to work with?
 - a. What have been the benefits?
 - b. What have been the challenges?
- 8. In what ways were you prepared to work with students with disabilities in inclusive general education classroom settings?
 - a. What do you think would be the best way to prepare SPED paraeducators for working with students with disabilities?
 - b. What do you think would be the best way to prepare SPED paraeducators to work with general and special education teachers?
- 9. What guidance, resources, and supports do you feel are available and/or needed for you to effectively meet the needs of the students you serve?
 - a. What ongoing support or training would help you to be more effective in supporting the needs of the students you serve in inclusive classroom settings?
- 10. What are the most important things general and special education teachers need to know and/or skills they need to have to effectively work with SPED paraeducators?
- 11. Is there anything I have not asked that you would like to share with me?

Principal/Director of Special Education Interview Protocol:

Please state your name, your position, and how long you have been in this position. What is your educational level?

- 1. Describe for me what inclusive practices for students with disabilities looks like at Lakeview High School.
 - a. What are the purposes and/or goals of including students with disabilities in general education classroom settings?
- 2. What responsibilities do school or district administrators have in supporting the needs of students with disabilities in inclusive general education classroom settings?
 - a. How comfortable would you say you are when taking on these responsibilities?

- 3. What responsibilities do general education teachers have in supporting the needs of students with disabilities in inclusive general education classroom settings?
 - a. Does the school or district explicitly outline these responsibilities or are they inferred/assumed?
 - b. How comfortable do you think the general education teachers are when taking on these responsibilities?
 - c. Does the school or district explicitly outline these responsibilities or are they inferred/assumed?
 - d. How comfortable do you think the special education teachers are when taking on these responsibilities?
- 4. What responsibilities do SPED paraeducators have in supporting the needs of students with disabilities in inclusive general education classroom settings?
 - a. Does the school or district explicitly outline these responsibilities or are they inferred/assumed?
 - b. How comfortable and to what degree of independence would you say paraeducators have when taking on these responsibilities?
- 5. How are the SPED paraeducator assignments determined and do you have input in the process?
- 6. Describe the guidance and support provided to teachers and paraeducators to fulfill their responsibilities in inclusive classroom settings.
- 7. What are the most important things teachers and SPED paraeducators need to know and/or skills they need to have to effectively support the needs of students with disabilities in inclusive general education classroom settings?
 - a. What do you think would be the best way to prepare teachers and SPED paraeducators to work together?
- 8. What resources do you feel are available and/or needed to support the work of teacher-SPED paraeducator teams?
 - a. What ongoing support or professional learning would help them be more effective when working with students with disabilities in inclusive classroom settings?
- 9. What are the most important things teachers and SPED paraeducator teams need to know or skills they need to have to effectively together?
- 10. Is there anything I have not asked that you would like to share with me?



Appendix B

Consent Form

<u>Purpose</u>: You are invited to participate in a research study intended to increase the understanding of the high school general education teacher and SPED paraeducator teams' relationship. I hope to learn how the participants' perceptions, beliefs, and experiences influence their work and support for inclusion of students with disabilities in general education classroom settings.

Participant Selection: You were purposefully selected as a possible participant in this study because as a general **or** special education teacher, special education paraeducator, **or** administrator for Lakeview Public School **or** Lakeview High School you have been identified for your involvement in the implementation of inclusive practices for the district or school. Approximately 5-7 high school general education teachers, 5-7 high school special education paraeducators will be invited to participate in observations, focus groups, and/or individual interviews. Approximately 4-6 special education teachers will be invited to participate in focus group and/or individual interviews. In addition, the school principal and/or assistant principal as well as the district's director of special education will be invited to participate in individual interviews. Approximately 16-23 individuals will be asked to participate in the study.

Explanation of Procedures: If you decide to participate, your participation could consist of a focus group interview or an individual interview, both will take approximately 45-60 minutes each. I also plan to conduct observations in inclusion classroom settings. The observations will take approximately 60 minutes or the length of the class period. With your permission and to assist with the analysis, I will audio-record the focus group interviews and the individual interviews. I will take notes during the observations. Sample focus group and/or individual questions include: 1) What responsibilities do you have in supervising and supporting the work of the SPED paraeducator/s? 2) Describe the guidance and support you have received from the general and/or special education teachers to perform your duties in the general education classroom setting; and 3) What are the most important things general education teachers and SPED paraeducators need to know and/or skills they need to have to effectively work together in inclusion classroom settings?

<u>Discomfort/Risks</u>: There are minimal anticipated risks with your participation in this study. However, if at any time you feel uneasy with a question, you may opt to pass. You are encouraged to be open in your responses. All of your responses will remain confidential and your participation is voluntary throughout the course of the study.

<u>Benefits</u>: The purpose of this study is to gain a better understanding of the working relationship among high school general education teacher and high school SPED paraeducator teams and how their relationships influence their practices in inclusion classroom settings. The publications

resulting from this study will have potential benefit for other schools and/or districts experiencing the same issues.

Confidentiality: Any identifiable information acquired through your participation in this study will remain confidential. Participation in the study will remain strictly voluntary. I will maintain strict adherence to proper measures to ensure the confidentiality of participants. Pseudonyms will be used to conceal names in an effort to maintain the confidentiality of study-related information. However, to provide assurances the study is properly completed and with the utmost level of diminished risk to participants, there are instances where this information must be released. By signing this form, you are giving permission to share information about you with the following groups:

- Office for Human Research Protections or other federal, state, or international regulatory agencies; and
- The Wichita State University Institutional Review Board

In addition, results of this study may be published. However, in such instances, any publication or presentation regarding the study will not include the names of participants.

If you are asked to participate in a focus group interview, the discussions that occur during those sessions are also confidential and you are asked to please not share what was discussed outside of the focus group.

Digital/audio copies will be kept for five years and then deleted from the password protected location. Any hard copies will be shredded.

Refusal/Withdrawal: Participation in this study is entirely voluntary. Your decision whether or not to participate will <u>not</u> affect your future relations with Wichita State University and/or Lakeview Public Schools.

Contact: If you have any questions about this research, you can contact Mrs. Karen Kuhn at 316-708-3519 or kakuhn@shockers.wichita.edu or contact my advisor Dr. Jean Patterson at 316-978-6392 or jean.patterson@wichita.edu, or at CLES Wichita State University Wichita, KS 67260-0142. Should you have questions pertaining to your rights as a research subject, or about research-related injury, you can contact the Office of Research and Technology Transfer at Wichita State University, 1845 Fairmount Street, Wichita, KS 67260-0007, telephone (316) 978-3285.

You are under no obligation to participate in this study. Your signature below indicates that:

- You have read (or someone has read to you) the information provided above;
- You are aware that this is a research study;
- You have had the opportunity to ask questions and have had them answered to your satisfaction; and
- You have voluntarily decided to participate.

You are not giving up any legal rights by signing this for consent form to keep.	rm. You will be given a copy of this
Printed Name of Subject	
Signature of Subject	Date
Printed Name of Witness	
Witness Signature	Date